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From the Editor. .  .  
 

The faithful workers of the MTGS volunteer corps are gearing 

up for our Annual Seminar to be held November 17
th
. Watch 

your mail for a flyer with details about Discovering Our 

Ancestors with Maps and Newspapers. So much material has 

become available using these records, you won’t want to miss 

this seminar to learn all about it. 

 

Local attorney Paul White has prepared a thorough account of 

Brentwood’s only Civil War battle – a raid on the Union 

encampments there by dashing Confederate General Nathan 

Bedford Forrest. You’ll enjoy reading about this surprise attack 

that helped make Forrest’s reputation. 

 

John Norvell makes a return appearance in this issue, with an 

interesting article based on his ancestor’s Mexican War pension 

application. You will learn more about this little-understood 

conflict in which so many Tennesseans participated. 

 

Chuck Sherrill 
M.T.G.S Journal Editor 
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Heiress or Victim?: Claudie Vester 
of Nashville, 1910 
 
Herman and Claudie Vester, a young couple with two children, were living in 

Nashville in 1910. Herman was a house painter by trade, and their home stood 

across the street from Nashville’s Jewish Cemetery on 18
th
 Avenue, North. One 

spring day, Claudie was visited by a policeman, whose news so shocked her that 

she fainted. Nashville police chief Henry Curran had received a telegram from 

Birmingham as follows:  
 
Try to locate Miss Claudia Clark, formerly of Birmingham, 
last heard from in Nashville. Large estate left to her in 
Jamaica. Representative here to locate her. 

 

Mrs. Vester was, indeed, that Miss Clark. As her uncle, W.T. Powers of 

Alexandria, Alabama, later told a reporter, Claudie had grown to womanhood 

living in the home of another uncle, J.G. Powers, also of Alexandria. In 1894 she moved to Birmingham and soon 

sent home the news that she was engaged to be married. Claudie mailed invitations, collected her trousseau and 

made a wedding dress. Shortly before the wedding date, however, Powers said “a veil of secrecy was drawn over 

her life,” and the marriage never occurred. Some years later she married Vester, a “humble painter.” Powers 

mentioned that Claudie’s father, Jack Clark, was also a mysterious figure, having run away from his father in 

Columbia, South Carolina, as a young boy to live “a hard life as a sailor lad, moving to this county in the evening 

of his life.” 

 

Although Claudie did not reveal it to her family, her fiancée, E.D. Ennis, had turned out to be a violent man. He 

shot a man in Birmingham and fled from the city, leaving his erstwhile bride. Ennis was never brought to trial for 

the shooting, and it was thought that he left the country entirely. Another secret, not possible to conceal, was that 

Claudie was pregnant. The census of 1900 reveals that she had a daughter, Pauline, born in 1893.
1
 

 

Claudie Clark moved on with her life. For four years she served as the private nurse to an invalid boy. Taking a 

leave of absence from that work in 1897, she came to Nashville to attend the Tennessee Centennial Exposition. 

There she met Herman Vester, who persuaded her to stay. They married in 1899, by which time Claudie was 26 

years old; Herman was a year older. Vester evidently welcomed little Pauline into the family, but he and Claudie 

had no children together. 

 

During their first ten years of marriage, Herman and Claudie’s lives underwent significant changes. At some point 

Claudie’s daughter, Pauline, left home. No record has been found to indicate whether she married or died, but she 

was no longer in the Vester household in 1910, at which time she would have been a young woman of 16. The 

Vesters had, however, added two other children to the family: Horace, age 6; and Ada, age 2. The census-taker 

recorded that both of these children were adopted. 
2
 Although not a wealthy man by any means, Herman Vester 

                                                           
1
 The child is listed as Pauline Vester with a birthdate of June 1893. This predates the 1894 date given as the year Claudie was engaged to 

Ennis, leaving it unclear as to who the father was. 1900 Population Census Schedule, Davidson County TN, Suburb of West Nashville, Civil 
Dist. 13, Enum. Dist. 128, Salem Street (no #), page 1B, family #11. No further information about Pauline has been located. 
2
 1910 Census, Davidson County CD 1. Dated 22 Apr. ED 18, sheet 7B, Family 160. Herman Vester, 38, TN, Claudine 35 AL-SC-SC, marr. 11 

yrs, Horace (6) and Ada W. (2) adopted children. Herman is house painter, literate, owns home without mortgage.  The “whether out of 
work” column is blank, unlike the neighbors. 2007 18

th
 Ave. N. 
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appears to have been a good provider. He owned their home on 18
th
 Avenue without a mortgage, and continued 

working steadily as a house painter.
3
 

 

When the policeman arrived to speak with Mrs. Vester, she had no idea what connection she could have had in 

Jamaica. She did know that the telegram’s sender Lige Loy, was an undertaker in Birmingham with whom she was 

acquainted. After recovering from the initial shock, she traveled to police headquarters and asked Chief Curran to 

respond that he had located Claudie Clark. She learned that it was her former fiancé, E.D. Ennis, who had died and 

left his estate to her. She was amazed and excited at the prospect of the unexpected windfall. 

 

On the following day, February 21
st
, the Vester family was thrust into prominence. The Nashville American got 

wind of Claudie’s story and ran it under this headline: 

 
FORTUNE FOR MRS. C. VESTER 

 

Nashville Woman Left $235,000 by Old Admirer 
 

Will of E.D. Ennis Makes Pretty Romance Public 
 

Claudia Clark Sweetheart of  Childhood Days 
in Birmingham, Bequeathed Wealth He Amassed 
in Jamaica, Where He was Killed – Long Search. 

 

Through this news story and others on subsequent days, the public learned that a man named Daniel Jones, an 

Alcalde from Jamaica, had arrived in Birmingham looking for Miss Claudie Clark. E.D. Ennis has been killed thre 

years earlier, he reported, in a duel with a Spaniard. His estate was being settled, and Claudia Clark was the heir. 

Mr. Jones offered a reward of $1,000 from the Jamaican government to anyone who could give information as to 

her whereabouts. Mary Lytle, Claudie’s cousin, and J.B. Smalley, a former suitor, traveled to Nashville by train to 

identify Mrs. Vester and claim the reward.  

 

A reporter in Anniston, Alabama, tracked down Mrs. Vester’s uncle, W.T. Powers, who shared the information 

about Claudie’s mysterious engagement and its sudden end.
4
 This story was reprinted in Nashville by the 

Tennessean on February 24
th
 with this tempting title: 

 
Secret Shut Up in Woman’s Bosom 

 

Uncle of Mrs. Claudia Vester  
Tells of Interesting Incident in her Career 

 

Walter Lytle (husband of Claudie’s cousin, Mary), and E.G. Hewitt soon arrived in Nashville from Birmingham, 

along with Lige Loy, the undertaker. There was suddenly a crowd of people waiting to identify Mrs. Vester as 

Claudie Clark, and presumably to share in the reward or to establish their connections with the soon-to-be affluent 

woman. All were waiting for the arrival of the Jamaican representative, Daniel Jones, who was to travel from 

Birmingham to interview Mrs. Vester personally. 

 

The Vesters hired Nashville attorney M.S. Ross to protect Claudie’s interests. He reported to the Tennessean on 

Feburary 25
th
 that he had been in communication with Mr. Jones, and expected the Jamaican official to arrive in 

Nashville that day. The newspaper observed that “Mrs. Vester was seen yesterday … accompanied by her husband 

                                                           
 
4
 Nashville Tennessean, Feb. 24, 1910:5. “Secret shut up in woman’s bosom” 
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… she refused to make any statement. She said, however, that she was grateful for the congratulations which she 

has received from her friends.”
5
 

 

On February 26
th
 a note of alarm entered the newspaper coverage. The headline in The Nashville American read: 

 
ENNIS FORTUNE NOT HERE YET 

 

Jones, Important Man in Case, Leaves Birmingham 
 

Intimated he was going to St. Louis 
 

Has been expected here all week 
 

When Jones did not arrive as expected, a reporter from the American called his counterpart in Birmingham. The 

reporter there confirmed that a clerk at Jones’ hotel had spoken with Jones as he departed. Jones claimed that his 

sister, Mary Smith, had been injured in an automobile accident in St. Louis, and indicated he was going there. The 

reporter continued, “Jones is a very peculiar old 

man. I visited him and talked with him myself. I 

quizzed him about the whole affair and wanted 

him to show me his credentials … but he never 

did show any papers…. I asked him why he did 

not go on to Nashville to see the woman. He 

replied that he had employed an attorney … and 

was busy drawing up papers, but I couldn’t learn 

what papers he was drawing up.”
6
 

 

Meanwhile, the Vesters were beginning to 

crumble from the strain of waiting for news, and 

of being under public scrutiny day after day. 

When Herman Vester read the story of Jones’ 

departure from Birmingham, he hid the paper so 

that his wife would not see it, as she was “in such a condition” that he did not want to break the news to her. That 

evening a reporter from the American visited the Vester home and tried to get an interview with Claudie, he was 

turned away by Herman Vester, who said that his wife was unwell and he himself had nothing to say to the press. 

The reporter was determined, and returned after dark.
7
 

 

The family had retired when the reporter knocked at the front door about 8:30 o’clock. After two 

or three strenuous raps the rays of a light was seen through a window, followed by a woman’s 

voice. ‘Who is that?’came the voice through the door, which was locked. 

 

As best he could, the reporter explained who he was and shouted that he wanted to see Mr. Vester, 

that he carried some important news. When the door was finally opened the reporter was standing 

face to face with a half-dressed woman, who carried an oil lamp in one hand and a Bible in the 

other. Over in a bed in a corner of the first room the reporter was ushered into [he] saw Mr. and 

Mrs. Vester. They were not asleep, but simply said they were tired and had gone to bed early. 

 

“We have had so many callers,” said Mr. Vester, “that we are worn out. I had to put a card up at 

the door telling them to stay away while Mrs. Vester was sick. 

                                                           
5
 “Daniel Jones will arrive her today”, Tennessean, Feb. 25, 1910:3. 

6
 “Ennis fortune not here yet,” Nashville American, Feb. 26, 1910:2 

7
 “Great fortune seems mythical,” Nashville American, Feb. 27, 1910:8 

J~W•SH Ci;Mi;TE.FtY N"-S~IV l LE, TE~N. 
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Reporters in Birmingham began investigating Daniel Jones more carefully, and learned that he was the same man 

who had recently been employed at a construction camp at Ensley, Alabama. There he had gone by the name of 

E.D. Ennis. About a week before appearing as Mr. Jones in Birmingham, he left his place of employment suddenly 

and did not even collect his final pay. Based on this information, the Birmingham papers printed a notice saying 

that Jones was a fraud, and that promises he had made of donating to Birmingham charities, as well as the Vester 

inheritance, were false. This was repeated the next day in the Nashville news.
8
  

 

When told that Daniel Jones was actually E.D. Ennis, Herman Vester took in the news with stoic silence: 

  

… [H]e sat silent for a moment, fingering his mustache. The reporter continued by asking Vester if 

he had read the story in The American Saturday morning , in which it was reported that Jones had 

left Birmingham. 

 

“Yes, I read that story,” said he, “but I don’t believe half I see and hear. But I didn’t want Mrs. 

Vester to read it so I took the paper and hid it. She doesn’t know anything about it.” 

 

Further than this Vester refused to talk. He refused to discuss Jones or Ennis, saying he knew 

nothing of them. He also refused to discuss the contents of the letter Mrs. Vester is supposed to 

have received Friday night and fainted after reading it.
 9 

 

A photograph of the man known as Daniel Jones was sent to Nashville and a reporter took it to the Vester 

home. He found the following card posted on the door of the little house opposite the Jewish Cemetery: 

 

 
Mrs. Vester is sick 

No Company is allowed 
Please do not rap on the 

door 
She needs rest.10 

 
 

The reporter found Mr. Vester at the side door and explained about the picture. The painter responded, “We don’t 

want to see it. I’m sure I don’t want to see it, and I don’t want Mrs. Vester to see it. I don’t want to do any more 

talking, either. Enough and too much has already been said.” 

 

Quoting the Birmingham Age-Herald, the Nashville paper reported that letters had been received from Kingston, 

Jamaica, saying that Mr. Jones was unknown there. “The question in the minds of the people of Birmingham is, 

What was the man’s motive in telling such a tale? Was it done in a spirit of revenge to humiliate the woman, whom 

he found happily married on his return to Alabama? Or is the man mentally unbalanced.”
11

 

 

The story came crashing to a close on March 1
st
 when the Nashville American ran this headline: 

 

                                                           
8
 Ibid 

9
 Ibid. 

10
 “Wouldn’t look at picture…,” Nashville American, Feb. 28, 1910:2. 

11
 Ibid. 
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Give Up Hope of that Fortune 
 

Vester Family Believe the Birmingham Story a Hoax 
 

Through their attorney, Montague Ross, the Vesters made a statement to the press in which they revealed that they 

had suspected for several days that Jones was a fraud, because a physical description of him had so closely 

resembled that of Ennis. Mrs. Vester said that Jones was privy to information that only Ennis would be likely to 

know, such as the name of the seamstress who had made her wedding dress. The news from Birmingham 

identifying him as Ennis “…was rather a relief from suspense than a shock, and she [Mrs. Vester] has borne the 

entire ordeal with unusual calmness and fortitude.”
12

 

 

The story was not over for Claudie and Herman 

Vester, though. The strain which the whole event had 

put upon Claudie took a toll on her health. Two weeks 

after the hoax was revealed, the Nashville American 

reported that Mrs. Vester had been home in bed since 

the incident, and had been transferred to Battle Creek 

Nashville Sanatorium for treatment. The report also 

said that Mr. Vester had been unable to get work and 

was also under a doctor’s care. Their two small 

children were being cared for by a relative.
13

 

 

Whether time truly did heal the wounds in this case is 

unknown, but the Vesters appear to have returned 

eventually to a quiet family life. By the time the 1920 census was taken, Claudie was back at home. The children, 

Horace and Ada, were 15 and 11 years old, respectively. Although Herman was still working as a painter, Claudie 

had taken work outside the home, probably to help make ends meet, and was working in a cigar factory. 
14

 

 

It’s possible that the family moved out of Nashville for a short time during the 1920s. In 1926 Horace and Ada 

Vester both got married on the same day, in neighboring Cheatham County. On April 9
th
 Horace married Martha 

Warren Williams and Ada married C.F. Kost.
15

 

 

The 1930 census finds the aging couple still at their 18
th
 Ave. address. Herman’s age is shown as 57 and Claudie’s 

[Claudia] as 56. Their son, Horace, had married and was living in the household with his wife and two children. 

Horace was working for a painting contractor, as his father did, and had named his youngest daughter Claudia after 

his mother.
16

 Daughter Ada and her husband, Charles Kost, were not far away. They lived on 14
th
 Ave. North with 

three small daughters. Charles Kost was a plasterer by trade.
17

 

 

Claudia Vester died in Nashville in 1951, and Herman followed in 1953. They are buried at Mt.Olivet Cemetery. 

The story that rocked their lives in 1910 was just a flash of lightning, but these victims of a cruel hoax undoubtedly 

had memories that cast a shadow in their hearts for the rest of their lives.  

                                                           
12

 “Give up hope of that fortune…,” Nashville American, Mar. 1, 1910:7. 
13

 “Mrs. Herman Vester in local sanitarium,” Nashville American, Mar. 16, 1910:2. 
14

 1920 Census, Davidson County. 4
th

 CD (West Nashville); ED 119, sheet 9A, family 174. 
15

 Cheatham County Marriage Book 3, page 262. J.J. Nicholson, Justice of the Peace, performed both ceremonies. 
16 1930 Census, Davidson County, 8

th
 CD, ED 19-222, family #296. Henry and Buena Jarrell and their daughter lived at the same address. An 

older Jarrell couple lived nearby. 
17

 1930 Census, Davidson County. Nashville 2
nd

 Ward, ED 19-8, sheets 4B and 5A, family 71. An older couple, evidently Charles’ parents, 
lived at the same address. 

ADMIN18TitATIVC 0""1CC• 01' MADl80N RURAL 9ANITA,UUM A.ND HOaPITAL , 
MADt90N COLL&OC, TCNNlaac•. NI.AR NA• HYILU 



111~-------------------------------
From the Papers of 

Gov. Newton Cannon 
Middle Tennessee items, t8J8·t8J9, Part IV 

Tht.· p:1pcrs of Governor 1\:'ewton Cannon'~ :ulmi ni~tr<uion are furl of 

m:•teri:~ l •·rl:uing ro !Vfiddlc Tennesseans. Alrhough horn in North 

Co•rvlina, Ca1H HH\ w.1s r~list>d in VVil l inm~on County where he 

lw<'nme n wenlrhy pl:~nter nnd popu lar politic:o l figu re. H is 

cv tH'H.!Ctions with ~\1idtJlt.! Tennessee peopl(' bolh o rdinary and 

innuent1.'tl were m:tny~ and hls corrc)pUIHh~nt'{' reflects those 

c:onncclions. 

llo\ I. folder R. Corrcspondence(N-Yl 18J8 
(continued) 

Wa,hingulll City. II Apr. 1838. 
(>en. Wintidd Scnll write' fwm the h~;tdquai1Cf\ nl 
the La~tCIII Divosion nf the U.S. A• my, o cquc>tin.~ 
troop' on behalf of ohe Executive (Poe,idellt Van 
nnn.:11 ). rcnncsse~ is req u i reel t<> pruvo de "hy 
volu 11tcco ing oo by dr;o ughting" o ne rcgonocno of' ten 
c• 11 npa n i~' 11ml nne ballalivn of live ~OI11f1<1111C•. " h0tlo 
of 111 l~ntry '" serve on foot." Thc'e trovps will be 
~mployed in ohc removal or the Cheon~cc' from the 
,·:"t to the west ot the Y1i"i••ippi under the toc;uy of 
o~~ I R '5 Scull \\ "~" the soldier• to tllli\ICr <MI the 
ut• nl \101) at (';olhuuu. Tenne>!><!e. where he \\Ill 
pro"'lc mu,kt<. rilles and ;ommumtlon Each 
compan) i~ 10 cun'''' uf ~ixly-foUI prh\tl~'· 1\\0 
111li\ICI.tn~. four coqx>rals. four "-.Cr~~anl\. unc Clhif!n. 

one fi~t licut~tMnt and one captain. 

N:"hvol lc. Davitl,on Coun ty. 28 Mar. I 83:1. 
Uco1g.C S. Y~;rg~.:r informs t h~ g~,.w l.·ruor lha1 he untl 
T homas It. Fletcher loavc been appointed to pr"·'"cutt' 
the Jones' [brothers I for the nourdcr or Cnl. Hdwmd 
W:onl. Ycr,ecr rc·qu<•>ts that the ~ovcrnoo pro1·ode rhc m 
wilh a powc1· ol' HtlofllC}· <tuthoriLing them tn appca1 on 
the "late', hdutlfin cou11. 

'\o,lwolll:. !)," itf,nn County. ! I Sept 183~. 

(ieor,c S. 't crgcr rc,ign-; hb office ' '' 1\ttonlC) 
Gcner.tl and Reponeo for the \tate. cll'ec·th ~ 15 O.:t . 
1838 I k (Ill'' hh remm·al fmm rh,· r Clllll''\I.'C II\ the 
n:a,un. and lhanls the governor for hi' ~intlnl''' and 
conlkknt..:c . 

M iddle Ttnncutt j ournal of Genu logy & H1nory 

l'aris. Henry County. [18381 
Lcucr of recomm~nd;olion from citizens of Hcouy 
County that Wi ll iam M. Bmwn, l';~q .. be appointed to 
fill the place vacated hy the rc,ign;,t ion of James 
Ru..:~s. Judge of the Sixth Judicial C ircuit. S igned by: 
W ill i;, L. Wi lli <nns: Wm. Fit7.p.crnld; John 1 H. ?j 
Dunlap: Ike 13. Wi ll ian!\: George M. Pone ,·; J a~ C. 
I Ciain¢r'!J; Kubt. Rododk; J:omc' D. l'orter and Tho. 
K. Porter. 

Box I , roldcr 9. Coro·cspondcnt·e (A-J ). 1839 

Bedford Count). 30 Jan . lli.W. 
James L. Ann~twng. ol the Shelbyville and 
McMinn,·illc Turnpike C'omp.my, reports to Gov. 
Cannon on the 'tockholder' or the ..:umpany. They are: 
Will S. Watrcr<nn: Mall M;n1in: Thcnd. F. Bradford: 
John Eakin: Erwin .1. l"ric"nnand Jumcs L. Armr..lrong. 

lkcch Umvc. \niT..:c County. 2 1 I 'eh. I t\39. 
James L. Arm"itrong (Hs :1hovc ) .-.tales he hHs received 
Gov. Cannon·, list of,tatc arpointccs to the board. He 
has. however, asce1taincd that Lorcnto Norton, one of 
the directors named fmm C"ollcc County. left the state 
tn li'c in Kentucky "where he had ~om.: time before 
married:· Ann•lrong rcquc~l> that another man from 
"'the" BC\.-ch uro1 c be muucd, ;md suggests Adam 
Raibume or Robc11 t.kCnol') The governor i> aslecl to 
-.end the name oi h" i!ppointc-c to William S. 
Waucr,on. "ho lives at 13ccch Goovc. Cannon's note 
1111 the r<!vcrse indicate' th,ot :'-lcCrary was appointed. 
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lkcrh Ciul\e, Coffer Coullly. 131\·lar. IIU<J. 
Wm. H Harri,. unc of tlw 't:ttc appt>mtees to the ho.ud 
of dor.:ctOh of thl· Centml Turnpike ro:td. wntl'\ to a'l. 
the gmcrnor ft)r '' darilieati<>n of the l:m reg.trdmg 
ho\\ lll ccrttfy that a cerl!lin percentage uf lhc 
,ubscriptiun, (for 'loci. I have actual!} been paid 

llill~h01 0, ('otk,· County. 22 Sept. 1839. 
Letter of •·c~i!(n.ltion from H. r. l lollins, ~· dir('\'tor ol 
I he Pelham und .I aspcr Turnpike Company. II o il ins 
"'t-:.~C' ' ' th:ll lk Stephen Cl:ll'ke could fil l the vacancy. 
Hollins '""the I''"' master at Hillsboro. A norc on th<• 
rc,·cr'c tnulclltr' that Dr. Clarlc wa;, appointed. 

Lebanon. Wthon ('nunty. 6 Sept. lll39. 
John I kam. l'restdent of the Lcbanun and Span a 
Turnpilc \mup:my. rcpons on the pro!!rc-, ul the r<Md 
and r-·qu"'" that the gn,crnur issue bonds lor '>Jil.()(lO. 

Murfreesboro. Ruth.:• lord County. II Ma} 1839. 
S. 1\ndt·r,on. Judge of the 5'' Circuit C<>urt. intiwnh the 
governor that he h;t> bc.-n too ill with f,~vcr and chills 
to ho ld coun in Cannon County. He ha.' had time onl y 
to inquire o t' anoru..:ys in Ruthc•'fortl about ~ubstitutin~t 
for him. They lli'C Kud,..:r. R~aday. Yoakum, t<c~bk 
;md Sneed. all of whom pnsscss suflicicn t lc~:d 
knowledg<'. Rud,cr t·annot anend due to I amity 
lll<lllcrs; Ready Y Ynakum ;uc " too much en~agcd in 
politics"; Sue.:d " not y~t 20 years old; Ed\\'ln A . 
Keeble has offered tn ht>ld thl' coun. Anderson .tl..o 
<t>k~ th.ll Cantl('ln appoint a '"b,lllutc for the Jun.: term 
of court ;ot Wilson Count). a.' he "'i<>hc~ en recuperate 
Hat -;om" 'Jlring~." 

Grassland, Smllh C'ounty. JO Sept I H39. 
Abraham C.tnuher,, Judge of the 4'" Circuit Colli 1. 
inl'o11n:. the guvcrnor that. due to pcKorw l >icknc,,, he 
will I"' ruwhlc w hold court in Sparta in Octoi1CI. 

Shelhy,•illc. lkdt'nr·tl Couuty. 3 March 1839. 
Rolbe11'? l P. lln rri,on I'CljUCSI' red res~ nn behalf of Dr 
George W llaywood. In 1 8~2 Hen•) ' C. Hradt'oru 
uep<hitnl his note m th~ Old Branch Bank at 
Shdhy\·illc. n.c lllliC Wa> endorsed by E~then li nin". 
Simtln run~<:r. l .arl) I !I Bright and H.ty" ood. When 
1he n01e came due 11 \Ht' di,co\o·ered to be tt forgery. 
Bmdforu has ab-..:ondcd to t\rkan~ anu I Ia} \\Otl(l i, 
bciug hdd rc'Jlt>O>thle for the am<>unt b) the banl. 

Clarkwilk, Montgomery Ct>unty . 28 Aug. IX.l'J. 

M iddl~ T'ennusu Journal of Genealogy & History 

l .:ncr of n.'t:ommcnd.uion lor N.ll Mien tor the nllk-..· 
nf Snlidtor Generdl in pl;~,·c of\\' k. Turner. who ha' 
rcstgncd. l\lr Allen IS "m pnlitic.ol fed in!!' ~lrongl) 
opposed to a majority of the Lcgtshuurc d<'<'t .. Signed 
by G.i\. Henry. N. Saundcr,, 1'. Hem). ' ·H rarriun 
ami [W. l.endby?]. 

('larl~VI IIc. Montgomery Councy. 23 Aug. J8J9. 
Letter of application by N. ll. ,\lie n 1'111 I he pu>ition of 
Allurney General at Clarkwi ll c. 

Box I, folder 10. Correspondence (M· Yl. 1839 

hank lin. Willt<mt,on Count)' . ~2 Aug. 1839. 
I humas Maury respond~ to I he go\crnor·, oiler of •n 
.oppointmcnt to fill the place ot Judg<' Rud' ~Iaury 
<~cccpt' "ith the pro' iso that ,hould \Oill<.'l\1\C hcucr 
<JUahltcd come forward, he" ill rdinqut'h hts place. 
bcrng "wcll;l\norc of my O\\ n ddiciendc:.." 

'vkMmnville. Warren Coumy 4 o,., I X l9. 
Allen Minor n:qucsts the gol'el'llor C<' "'liC a ro.:wan.l 
fo 11' thc capture nf Hiram Owen\. Mtnor cl;ums rhat 
()wens rntll'tl"rcJ hi~ fathe1, John \<linor. in McNairy 
County. Owns fled ;tnd Min or is in pursu i 1. 

(ir:"sl,utd, Smith County, .10 Sept. I X W. 
Wm. :\leLa in 'uggc-.s that Jant<'' 1'. Thomr,on of 
vlcMuwvtllc be appuintcd Ito hl>ld t:oun in Sp.ma 
during Judge \annhcn. · ab<cncc. 

Amocni:ul Gro,·e. Rutherford Co. 7 t\pr. I HW. 
('lemcnt W. Nance r.:pot1> th.u he ha' •dentillcd chrc.: 
p•omi,ing. '~holaf'l. to "el\c :h '""i't.mh in h1s "ittrvey 
ot che r&H Canal, and h<h 'fltolcn with tlt~i r par.:nts. 
'J'ho;e selected arc Rohcrt l'nokc. New toll llurlc,on 
:111d Abner W. Nelson. Maj. Pot" \\•ill J<>in hun at 

Purdy in M10N<tiry County to hcgi n chc w<or~. 1-:nvdope 
~huw'i rdurn addrcs" tiS Slt'\vart~btwo. Tenn. 

Wayne Co. 9 May IX.W 
Pt.:tition of Wi ll iam Pollard ot' w.,y,,· County a., king 
th:.l order> be issued for the apprt~h''"""" uf H;11nilton 
Hue ram wholta~ Oed to Con\\ ay. Arkan~a,. I he 
Wuyne County Circuit \nurt i--ucd a JUd~ment againsr 
Butram. Delilah Butmm and SM<th llutr;un for 
attempting to murder Pollard 

Na,fl\'i llc. D.rvid>on Co. 1 -~ Aug. I!<W 
Letter llt' rc,ignation from Juc.Jge James Kuc~' nl the(,'' 
JuJidal Circuit includi n!,: O.t vi<bon County. 
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Gov. Cannon wu nquircd to provid~ troops for the Chc.-okc:e Removal, 
bf:nu known u tht Trail of Tun. (-.in··mnn.lpl..ct..ora) 

l1 :111klon, William<on Co. IS i\·lay IKW 
R.S. T~1ppan decl ines to serve"'" thr~<:tur t>f t h~ 
Umon ll;mk of Tcnnc,,cc. due to uut of ~l/ltc l>~l'illt'" 
afi':d r' whirh will require him to he ah,cnt mu~h oi' t h~ 
li Ill~. 

I I K.IIJI 
l'etotion ,jgncd by about40 men rccunullcntlin~ 

Willi.un vi. Rrm•n to till the '"'"'"''-'Y crcmcd by .ludvc 
Ruck~· rc,ignatlon. The tirst signatures ar~ dm'c of 
(' (' Tr.ohnc. John 1.. Hadlc; and Robert I. 1\loore. 

nark, \I lie. ~lontgomery Co. 20 Aug. 1839. 
Leiter of rc,ignation from Wu1. K. Tuoncr. Solkitur 
Gcncr.ol inohc 7" Di"rict. 

I X ~ch. I X~') 
Pl~>idcnt nnd Dirccmrs ofrhe llarpeth :mel l·t1rming{()n 
Turnpike Company certify that they ha,·c ,.,,iscd 
$·15.000 in ,·apitol. '<.'cured by 15% in'"'" · Si!(IICd by 
Rido:ud W,uncr ( prc,idcnt). 11nd. Tho•. Cl lluntcr; 
John R . .lone': Jarnc~l'!l Wi ll iam': .Ia""' W. ()~ill ic: 
Ephr:11111 Hunter: JJ.II.''J Robin<on, John M. l.ane: 
John Ramsey: Andrew Pau~r;,on: 1'!111. :-.Iiiia: .~;t,_ l\L 
Rt)!J:': John Orr 

llh:\1inm illc, Waorcn Co. "0 reb. IX]9 
I ~ttcr ul ,.,.,i!'ll<llion fmm L.D. Ro11 .on a' a dorcctoo ol 
the \lcllhnn"lle & Shelhy,·ille Turnpoke Company. 
due Ill per,unal engag~ment~ and plans to be on E:"t 
rl'llll lhi'OUl!hUU' lhc 'priug. IJe l'eCollllllefld' J:lllll!\ 

M iddl~ 'f'tnntuee Journal of G~nUIQ8y & llistory 

Cilasscock of Miller's 13rancll in Warren County as his 
succ.·c~sor. 

()allatin. Sumner Co. 7 Sept. I H:,CJ. 
l{csignation lctt~r from Wei-ICy Malone and Ja~. L. 
Mcl<oin , directors of the Ciall:l[ill Turnpike Company. 
Joseph Robb and rhornm, Jc11k.in> :we recommended <IS 

n.:plac,;emcnts. 

Columbia . .Vlaur) Cu. 2~ Mur. llOIJ. 
l.cner from Gideon Pillo11 1n re,pon<e to one from rhe 
governor. Pillow defends the expenditure~ of 'S69.000 
mudc by the Columbia Ccntr.ol Turnpike ComJXttl)', 
despite the fact that no pnninn uf the road is yet open. 
Pillow complain> that Gov Cannon ha' nn grounds for 
wit holding the company's bond. 

nox I, folder 12. COI'I'~Spundcm·c from Gideon 
Pillow, ll!JX-111]9 

I Maury County'! I. I Aug .. lll1H. 
The Presidem and Director' of the Columhia Central 
Turnpike Company request th<ol the capotol stock of the 
company be incrca"·d to $300.000. the amount they 
believe nece~"'") to ~omplctc the ro;od. 

Columbia. Maury Count). 20 Nuv 1838. 
Gideon Pillo11 notifies the !tO' crnor that nine miles of 
the Columboa Cemral rumpikc are completed. and the 
company rcquc~h that Gov. Cmnun appoint three 
inspector~ en au1hnrizc the erection of a toll gale. 
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l'ollow o.-.:wnm~n<h Sanll. H. Anru.lrong. Col. Woll 
Pill'"' · J,,,,., June' and Roben \\'ilwn. all of whom 
Jove "con' CIHCill 10 the ,..,ad."' 

Columbia. 'V1.our) Count). 26 :-\ov. IR.lX. 
Gideon Pi lim\ noli lie~ the governor of the death ol 
Rny:ol h :rguM\11 . ,, tliri!(IOr uf the Columbia rurnpi ~e. 
ha' doed. Pollow rccomm..:nds as '" Jll:icc""""t' 
Ft·rguson's panner Roger B. Mays. Or . .fohn B. lluycs 
"' Capt. lli lary Langtry. 

MI. l'lcu"ull. I Maury Ct>unty"!]. 28 Nov 1838. 
The Prc,idcnl and Director' of the Coluo11hi,o Ccmr.ol 
Ttu11poke Company cc11 ify thai S24.000 in ca\h h." 
bc:cn dcp<Nicd into the company lrC:Nory. which i' 
a•ailahlc for funhcr payment< to the road contra(U>r 
Signed by (iidcon J. Pillo_.., Pres.: James\\'. Fricr>c,n. 
\\'ill J. Pol~ . Won. Pillow: Sam. Stod .. ord: M 0 . 
Cooper; G.i\ . Polio\\. l .ucius J. Polk, Jmnc' Wal~a: 
J.B l'ollow; Lvan Young. 

Columbia. Matuy C'otolll)'. 6 M:or. 183'.1. 
Pi ll ow tq,.>rl' liwl \1r. N;opier. one of the dire~tors ol 
the Columho.o 'J llrttpik( Company, has lltOh'd 10 

Mississ ippi. li e propose< .li11nc; Jones. J-Ju~ h Dlloll:tp 
'""' Sam!. I J. Armstrong as JlOssihlc rcpla~cmcnl\. 

l.olumhoa, 1\·l aury County. 9 :-br. 1839. 
Pillow •~Jl<>ll' that unolhcr <;45.0()() ha' l'><'cn paid into 
the Columbia Turnpo~c ll.::~>tll)' h} the ,todh,•hlc:". 

Columbiil, Vl.mr) Count). 26 :-Jar. I R.W. 
l hc Pr.:,idcm :uod Dirc~!Ors of the Columbia Cemral 
Turnpo~c Cmnl>itrl). in rc,pon'c tu <~ 11 inquiry from the 
go\'ernor, \Hitl' to currer:ct mh-inform.arion ~1botll the 
project. Oet~o l \ ahom th..: road, its imJ)Ilrtancc, lite 
c:x.pcnditun.:s. and Jt'- progress are givcr1. Stgw.:d hy C~id 
. 1. Pillow. Prc>idclll .• md M.D. Cooper, Sccocwry. 

Rnx 2, l'old~r 2. Mist. Corresponclcnc(•, l!UX 

Maury Coum)' , 25 Scpl. 1838 
RcJ)(II1 ur rc\cnuc c:ull>.:<:tcc.J by William L. 1:1\< i11. 
Clcol; of the Ct>UIII) Coun. Among tbe item\ ur•un 
\\ hJl'h t~X W3\ lcvu:d \\t:rc: dt!H"fl IU\,dl lul'-1: l\\0 

hawl..crs & peddler'. '"" ta,·crn,, ,i.\1\··thn.~ 
mcrcl~;u\1\; fl•rty·lhr~.: ~tallions, tWCill) -lour j:~~"'"'' 
anu u tloJcn rct:ulcr.. ol >pmtuou;; liquor,. Suhmm..:d 
by i{cubcn Smith and llartwcll H. Brown and ce11ifocd 
hy .los. llcmdon , J. 1'. 

Middle "r~nt"\CJSet.Journal of Gtntalogy & Hiscory 

'ihdh) lillc. Redford Count}. 6 Oct. IXJR 
(\•riJiocm.: of tbe election uf nine drn:cw" of the 
Shdh~\IIIC & 1\kl\lmm ollc Tmnpi~~. ,ubnuucd by 
W1lham Galbreath. J. P. I h"''' l'iL'dctl ""'"· William 
S. W:oucrson: James L. ''' llhtronr: ' l hcud. I'. 
BmJ fiJI cJ: .John E:1'-.in: Erwin J. I ·nerson: Math. \-1 arti n 
Jr-.: Wolliam 1-'. Long; Andr<!w \1axwdl anti Smith 
( 'arncy. 

Hox 3. fold(·r I. l'tliliun.s l'cu· Puo·dons, l8.19 
fkc~h Grove, Coffee Coul1ly, 2.1 Aug. I X.\<1. 
Rc4UL''' fwm Col. Wm. S. Waner~on on IJChall ol 
Allen Jcmigan. currently in the fl''Ollcnuary lor 
·"""'hmg a man named Tudco. Wancrwn .av~ that 
luckl.!r \\il\lhc: onfy '' iloc'' 10 the C\l·nt. .md l1a~ ~im:e 
been d1~overed to he: a rcncg.rdc w :ml~'d for murder in 
'\urlh C"n.•lina. and a b1gami,1 . Jcnugan. he: dainL,. i' 
a hannk" uld and ignorant m<.ln :"'llhl~t to 
dtunkcnncs-. Tucker wa> "dc•iling" Jernigan, who was 
chu n~ and Ja,hcd out ''ilh hi, knife. All .occornp:mying 
petition bear~ :tbour 200 signalur,·,. 

Senate Clt~mbcrs. 24 De~. I X.W. 
S(lltllor Yoakum forwaotb I<> Gov. Cannon the petition 
of 175 rc, iJcnls or C<>fli!c '"'" (';111non coumies on 
behalf of Allen Jcrnig<.~n. \vhn W<~~ t..'Oil\ iclcd o f' 
n1.1licious ~tabbing hv lh~ Cannon ( 'ount v Cir(Uil 
Couo t. Wilwn Ta)·lo;, the \'tcum ol Jco nigan', crime 
'"" 'in(c been di\UilCrcd to be "allied for murde• in 
Nllnh Carolina. Since Jcmigan·~ trial T.t) lor has tled 
I rom the area. <•bandoning unc \\ ifc :Uid m.1rrvmv 
another. Four of the juror- I rum Jcmigan ·, trial ;~rc 
amt•ng th~ s1gners. [This addi tional pt'lllton i' in the 
tile. J 

l<llthcri<Jrd Counly. S Mao·. 1839 . 
i'c tio iou i'rom the coun and jury who tried the case of 
llenry. a slave of Maj. B111 nett. Henry w;" found guilly 
of brca~i ng and emerinp, a o1d scnt<'m:cd to deal h. The 
J>ctiliollco·s point out that llenry hro~c 1111n Shepherd's 
'lorchou'e and allcllt)Jicd to •ll·a l some nem< of liHic 
Vllluc, but wa, "PI)rchendcd. Th~y "regret that !'0 trivial 
an ollcncc ,hould be pun"hcd with dc;uh" :md request 
.1 p.trdon. Si~ncd. W.l\1.~. LylcuJ''I. Allr.xl Ro"; 
James Rud;s: Wm. II. Bowm;m; W.S. Sublett. Saml. 
Mcl".oddcn: l:ldndge Lolun; W1lham Mayfocld: John 
Ill. Walle: John Dobbms: J .W. YkEiroy; and J;"""' F 
I<'"' Another 60 supportive dtitcn' ol Rutherford 
Coun ty 'igncd the r..:ver,c ' ide of tht• ~!Cl ition. 
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A note from Geo. A. Suhlen 111 the file <late<: 
"on the morning in which .. llcnry was caught 
in the swrc of Rohcn P. Slwpard 'aid Smith thd 
I'C(( nC'\1 m\.: ~IS a J u~tic..: of lhc Peace to nrdl.':l' him 
to he whip[rdo:;d in"''>' mann~r I might 'ee 
t>r<>per to order, and then he wou ld senti him oil 
imrn~di.ttely. which request I would hal'e 
complied with but the pro...:cut()( Robert P. 
Shcp~rd \\ould not con,cnl it \hould be done. 
~1ar 'J. I X:\9. 

t\ note from Saml. Win,lon in I h.: i'i le ' tate' th:u 
llcn,·y had belonged to him" ' hun time bd'ore 
tht• arrest, and that prior Ulthnt time he hacl 
never ~nown Henry guilty of any mi<conducl. 

Murfreesboro. Ruthct ford Cuuuty. 23 Yhtr 
ll<3'.1. 
Lc11erto the governm twm lknncu Smith 
acknowledging <•ov. Cannon's leucr to him, and 
di"u»ing the 3"1 Arttde of the Con<titut ion. 
ini'nnninc; C;mnonthat hi ' :1ppcal h,td been 
llcnicd. and reque-.l in~ c1 pardon f'or flcnry. 

Lawrence County, I X39. 
Petition requesting a pardon lor Jnhn l'oscy who"'" 
..emcn..:cd in Luwrence Count), fenn .. to four \C,ll'l- 111 

the t>cnitentiary for rccci' ing and concealing stolen 
gnoch Petitioner~ ""crt thai Pmcy ""'duped b) ht> 
"ile. who "ole the go<xh in Lauclcn.lale County. Al,o .. 
~nd brought them to hnn in Tenn. Approximate!) ~0 
si).(ners. The first three nrc llcnry, K1chn10nd and 
Andcr.on Swiney. 

l,andcrdale County .. '\lab.una. 1839. 
T\\o petitions rcqu..:,ting a p;1rdnn fltl' John Posey.'" 
nhoH:. Ahout 100 "!!"1.'" nn c:ll.'h petition. 

llid.man County. 1839. 
Pl.'tition from 126 Hid.man County re,idems 
rcquciol i ng a pardon for A lcx.uulcr PI unket. convtcted 
in Circui t Court of bigamy and M:ntcnccU lO lwo Y'-'HI'"> 
imprisonment. They ""e' tllllll l'lunkct was a minor at 
the time of the offense. Dlllll)e licve that time alr.:m.ly 
'cncd is sufficient pun"hment. Nntc< from altn"'"Y' 
A.O.P. '\ichobon and Edmund Dillahunty state that it 

Middlr Tennessee journal of Gtl'\t.al.-.gy & History 

This petiti-on on bchal£ of Andnw Mllam, the juror 
who went in su.rch of a kd at night ~d. w.as sentenced 

to a month in jail. it bea.urifully wrinen. 

appeared at trial thai l'luukc1 was guilty from 
ignor::ltl\.:·C ralltcr lhan vilb ny. 

Coffee County. I SJ<J. 
Petition from ctllt.en' or I ranklin and Colfe.- cnuntic' 
nn behalf of John Pen v. "ho "a" com·1c1ed of )!rand 
lart·cn) in 'tealinr muncy from Jamc> Wtlken.<m. Pcny 
was "<juitt.: a youth" :tithe lime of the oiTct~>e. had no 
father, ancl h" lllnth,•t lh cd in another ,tate. I it''"" 
illegi timate. but his mot her's r~lnt i on' ;11·c h1ghly 
ll!,pet.:tablc. llc had r':dlen victim to "the sedul'tiw 
inllucm:c of a11 al'lful and beautiful but bad youn~;: 
woman. and married ht•t . tg~lill~t lhc ndvi<.:t' ol hi' 
friends: · 1\mong Hpptoximatcly 125 ~igm::rs itrc J.:unc-. 
and Isaac Wil~itr'-<>11, :1ml nwmber, of the Gr,ut<l Jury 
A note on the file md1catcs the Governor"'"''" tu 
Ctpt. Jamc> PeU) ol Plea.;am Plain, in ('ofk'\: Cuunt~ 
about the mauer. 
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Tcnnc,...:c P,·uitcmi.try. ;\a;hvtlle. lUJan. ll<W 
lcucr frnm II.J Audc'"'"" ;md John ~klmosh , pri,OJJ 
ollif."ial,, 1u On\ Cannon cnclthing iniOrm:uit'fl aboul 
Jacl;..on Penuel'' couvicllon for hon. .. ,tcaliu~ tn 
O.tvid>on County in ll!JI. He ha' ,crwd mt•r.: than 
M.:wn year> of his etght-year semencc, n '"th~litl und 
pro litnblc" pt i'<tncr w illt good conduct. 

DovidMill Coutll y, IVIity I H31 
Copy o r Circui t Coun proceedi ng~ in CIISC o r SJ:tll' \. 
Pcnud lor l'l!nme ll . lie wa~ c harged with thd l '"" 
gcldi n~, "'" ""'' at j, l50 from John T homt's,,n a11d 
'"ntenwd h> ci~hl ) cars a1 hanJ labor. 

David~on Couni)' .J;III. IKW 
Copy ot Ctrcuit Coull lli'OCCCthng' again'' Andre\\ 
lllil:un for lc.11mg O\ernight "·hen :;cquc,tcr.·d ,., a 
jurot· in the C:hc of S~<~tt·' ~1ichael Corley. 1\lilam ";h 

>Cntcnccd Hl a S50 line and a month in jatl. 

IDavid<on County, c. llL\91 
P~tit ion ot' Andrew Milam request ing rdca,,· from hb 
j ai l 'cntcncll h•·t· <tbovcl. The court adj oumed nt o~hn111 
II p.m. mtd went ((I the tavern of William Smith. ' I here 
'",.,ere uot enough hcJ'\ Lherc, .::o f'.llihun "vent acro.\S lhc: 
,,trectto the houw oi' Ja,, McGowen to 'pend the ll i!-!lt l. 
Two >upponi n~ petit ions ~ ' c in th..: li te , wit h 
apt"'oximmcly 200 ;ignen •. Petitio ners claim Mi l,un i' 
a re<I)C.:tahl.: man "ith it wife and children who did nor 
rcah1.c he "'" 'iulating the law. A note in the ltlc 
reads "P:ullon.:d Feb. 16, 1839." 

Tcnnc,st•e l'cnnenu,uy. Na.<h\'ille, 19 Fcb. llU9 
t xncr from II.J . Andcn.on. Agent of rhe Penitent,,ny. 
to Citn. Cannon cndnsing c.:ourt rcf..:orUs pertaitllllf! to 
Sutton Md icc ( llcnry County) and Hclll'y John~on anu 
Jesse Moore ( l.utculn County). Anderson t'l>connncnd:. 
e arly re leu.~c of :vlc« cc hu t states that Johnson and 
Moort· have not conduc ted themse lves well in pri " "'· 

Sum ner Counly. I SW. 
Peut ion 1 cqu~'t i ng a pardon for J oscph llul It-t of 
Sumnet· COUIII)', who wa' t•onvicted of grand l:trccny 
in 1837. l'eihoncr; "ha' cing been intunatdy 
acquainted with .. llullet ... smcc his ho)'hOod,'' ha1 c 
alwa)' kno" n hun to be an "hone.~r and "ell d"llO·"·d 
Cl\ II mHn •• 30 "'lgncr,. 
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C.umon Coumy. c.l X.W. 
Petition rt'questing a pardon lor 'lltmna' Hlmerton 

"ho '"" '""' ictctl of hot'.e 'teahn~ Ill Cannon County 
aud "-'lllCIIccd to thn.-.: )C"r- tmpnsonment. llenry 
How.:unn. tonncr O\\ ncr elf the 'tukn ht>roc. supports 
the petition. The petitioner- hclicvc the convktiou ""~ 
b'L't:d on the circuflhlarltml cvid\.'nc:c thai Thuma' 
f hmcrtun Jdt home the .alllC lllOIIIilll) the hor'C went 
tni"int;. llowcrlon wm, found in lleuford ('ounty 
'\.·vcn days laLer. bur th<.· hoP··<: wa"i never tound. 
Approx iu1mdy 125 "iigncr;-... A note on !Ill' jik indkalt'S 
th~tt ( ;ov. Cannnn illlcndcd tn .:onlact Martin Cox of 
Woodbury about the case. 

Cannon County, c. l839. 
Pct il i•JII rcque,ting relea'e of Jn!>Cph I' llc•h from the 
(">ellltenriary. Pc1uionep .. heJil.·\'C llc•11 j, .w ht.1rrurablc 
and honest man who was im olvccl in an '"unfortunate 
afl:oir " I lis hcalth ts poor and they rcquc,t he h..· '<'Ill 

hOIIIl' to prolong hi> hfc. Signer,, all citt7Cil\ or 
('.utnon County. incluclc A.r:~ 1\kf-ctTtll ,md Edmund J. 
Wood. r\pprn<im:rtcly 50 'ignc" 

Springfield. Robe rtson Co .. 1 Sq>l I XJ<> 
f'ct il i<.HI on bdtalf o f .lamesT. (j,)tf trlln, convit•t<·d in 
May 1/06 ,1r burglary and 't'ntcnl'cd co Jive year< ~~ 
httnl labor. Gorham, aged 18. i' lite son of William 13. 
( iorham and Po ll y Gunn (ck.:cas~,l). :t lld gr:mtbon of 
Rev. James G unn, ~ dbtmgu i,hcd c il i1cnol' Rnl'ct'l>On 
County. James T. became .ut nu,·oulrollahlc yowh. 
nw1icd and father~d two chtld,·en, Apploxim,.tdy 360 
,jgnt:r\. 

Spun!!fidd. Robcrt,on Co .. ~2 S<·pt 18J9. 
G~n . Richard Chc;nluuu writ"' to (im. Cannon on 
ll<:h.tl[ of hts neighbor William H. Clurhmn. "hu i, 
applying for !he pardon of his 'on .lame' T Gmham. A 
IICitl! 011 the ri le indiC,1tC> the go,ernor i"tted ,} pardon 

S .,u•• c Ul Cpl. .J • 

p' 8' '' 
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El~wn. G•k' Co., 18 Aug. 1838. 
Timm•" n:mc '"ite• 10 Go' . Cannon (ndo"nl! a 
petition em behalf of Joseph G. Fogg. ,i~ll<.'<.l b) 180 
""'":II 1-Jltun. Soon :1flcr Fogg 1110\.:.l h> Gik' Coumy 
in I X.16 he purchased a hOI'<t: from Jnhn Wh illkld. 
FoM l!iiVC a' 'ccu•·ity a note plll ported In O<' hom Iii ' 
undc . .l .une' Fogg, who lived ahout 18 mile' c1i,l:tlll. A 
n ,i, uu\k r,t:md i ng bet ween uncle and neph~w resuhcd 
in llic fl" ""culion. Among lhc >igncrs of lhc pclition 
w·c Jolin Whi llicld. James Fngg. aud ' ""h p1omine111 
...: II il\,."ll"i o r (ii I\!~ County a~ Aaron v. Brow ll, 

:\1aury ('011111}, c. I!U9. 
l'eiiUOn by lawyer' and jurors in Columhia on heii.JII' 
o( J,,,~ C'hubornc. a free negro t·cmvlcted :1nd 
\l'ntenn'tl w ,, line of 15-ccnl> <md ,, year Ill tho: 
r":nitcnli~try fur t."Oilling imo lhe \l.tll" cnnlt.uy I() th,· 
pmVI\IOih ol the Act of 1831. l'ctition.:r' d;oim 1hat 
JtKk lts,lt~mHc :thoul ,j, year' pnor at the mvililtion n{ 
1,;, R. Oshurn I sic], to superintend a hemp lac tnt y 111 

M.!UI)' County. lie ha;, since returned to Kentuc~v. 
Pctilionl.'r"i lh.> 110 1 bdi..:.vc Jm:k was aw;.u\' llti tl he w~ts 

hn.:ukiug a btw. Signers include .hunc-.: II. Tho111~ 1 -.:, 
1\lly. (i'-·n .• j uror:\ Hnd member\ of lhc b~tf. Pt ..;~iding 

Judge t\ . Mnrchlxlllk, ~iguL:d but im; luded a quali l'y111g 
nme. I~. R . ()~horne signed and andcd a nntc "'Y"l£ lh ,,t 
he bii!U).:ht Jo~el. with him when he moved trom 
Kcntucl y. where they h.1d abo opcral<'d ,, hemp 
lilct<ll'). (hbomc found Ill Jack "a 'h!rll IIIQral 
iuk~uly." 

(;11,\I'TCit (:fl. o\1 \d~ttnt;rt:f-« J.ef':.)IU tr<"6lnnr,,ld 

(;tf ot!~t ."l"P' .. c.. 

!'it:c•, 1. /it rt 1 ·'' ·.-ttd f,y r.'l" Gf'wr:d . l.•M.Tii!,~•tt.J.f tl,,. ,'-itt'' 

oj 'l'lllMJtft', ' l'h.tt .il .:h:.ll not h.! t..;.wful lr.. r alt,\' fn·c: ,.,.,,..,""'''•''" 
JH:t •Ou or ptr•otu t>l colour. whctl•cr I•('! •ht: or l 'l<:J' llc • .,1,.,.,. ,,. .u. 
bum ll't'C l..lr < !Wt "\dp·tlN I nt!r<;t;:tlll) to the ltPU iu (Or('t i~;~~:r-:.:.rolu 
uud " "''• ~·illu·r 11nw t>:' ' ' ' :un ,IJ,:::r l.imc 111 ;,c.r Sl'ltc \1 11 h· 
in tl10 l'11llt1J Stllli•·,DI' ': I H~wlt,~r('. to n ·ul(>\u l1im1 hu 
ur t ll4.:nm:h•t'J co t!wt Stntc lo rr ·.i1lc; tJwrdn, anJ run .In 
tlu; r .:111 (WCI\l) l)tr!lj nnd if:lOj' HICh ( ;-('1" (l<:r~Qn Or JH'f'o 
tiJIU of C'Ofou ~ ~It .tit a)rt::o~l!nt' ur Ol t h:ultl1 to ' c~~ulc thf'l ri "' 
contrary to tlu: luoq,jon-<ohlai~ ·•<I, c•~t) 11111 h Jlt r11on 
or .,.._ .. ~on• ~ff\•IO·Jt ~h.,IJ be Jinhl ... '''I·~· lll'litlttl hc(uco 
lhe ~mrul JUry o( cbe rounty tor cirtuit court ••ltld t(.uu· 
ty wtu-rc hr. "he or tl.f"y n~ty =-tt(:rnpt ''' rr-.ith·, a1 d ~( 
Cotmclcd J~JI be Cit.t'd iu ·' ~u~~~ ::ot ~~~ 1h:w tt'n duf!.t" 
uormor(O It•·'" tiltrd"':J:u,, tn 1:,_, u·t o(lltf' court\.,tnd 

llickman County. c.ll!W. 
Petition on hehalf ol Robert I . ('happcl who wa., 
,·om tctcd of l.1rc.:ny ;md ha.' >e:rved eij!ht momlt< of his 
t~nc year ><.'lllcll<:C. C'h.-ppd h,l\ a wife and child 
rc,iding in llickm:111 County "ho arc poor and 
dependent upon him. Pctitim1c1' 1cquc't I hat he m~y b.; 
rclc~~cd e.-rl y in l!rdcr til plant :1 crnp for the support of 
his famil y. Appmxim~tcly KO 'igncr,. 

,.._a ,t,_TTII• l f'4t••--·• ra• 

N t .NETEE!'>Tfl QENER.tl.. .t1JIHHI 8LY 

,, , .. 
.. 

. • """ .. 
ST:\.T~F TENNE SSEE. 

1 ~3 1 . 

f1tllfTK•r«n~r.~-.c·nh•a(e1tol.~•~l l .• l.ooJ tn t)·~·l't.rti• 
tent1~n ~:.r , lt'rnt Ll•t Jt-"! Ut1tt 0110' c:lr nor more than 
I" •• yc:,,., llot: l,..rm t:•f ••••' II~" (ct 1·~· 't').••il 1•.' d,e juct;;e; 
n1 •I 1f aor suc.h lro:r p\·r.on or pt.I'..Oh" of t'4.11our <~'II .tforc· 
t~:ml, "lmJl ln.il or n:(,,.c I•J ruutut.,l•• u, 111 I' Ol' tlteulll~ln t 
t riJin tM~ "talc, within t l.irh · dr•yll n(h r l1b, he•· or 1hd r 
clt".-1-nr,;c (roul tlou l1c•mtC·vtHoiJ't tu \ t•~..~~~ d('IHifl( •J 1r 
si-. kt;C~li)Ot' '-fnnc: uua•oit.htMo cudd1:11(, ~11d 1 J..Cf.h~n or 
(!Cf'ii(HtHh.\ll.ogHill lac li~tll l tl to hullt•lnwut 11 bt {Qto ', :'lnd 
upon (':ln\ ic:lfon :oh.ttl lll) •t'llh'JU ud fll l:thOr ltt the l'u•i­
h·uli.uj fo r a It , ml.loulol•• tht· IOII~P/1.1 1+'1'111 lu fon~ me••· 
tiut.C'•I.b!tl @!~<~JI r~qC lw lhhlu II) 1.111} l"'• UllhU) l inl",lh in 
llu• tir,t t :l,(:wc:c: a~ l,«nitll'tl. 

~~:c-. '.!. n .. rt ~~:nctnl~ That i1 th:tll not I•~ l ur(ul, from 
nn.t nQrr tht> p:n!-a;-c oftMt atl, for nny court or n11y ,,. ... otoot.., 
OfliJM't'O('O~Of"f~Uf .In~ f4\t; hf '"'' t {I) t'llliHol'fJI.IlC'!:•=::!".::. 
nr•> ~ -1\0:: Qr .. lo..- -,tlt:Lpt on the ca,ur~, coDtlhl•ln, d~o.u ....... ~ ... 
• 1.-h sl:tv .. ur ~l n •h.all h( lltUl ul1at' 1.) o·uN\1'!\1 (rt>Ot 

d•u !.'nte, :and c:tery ,oc:,..•:ott o.t IM"•~···~ •o dt.·lriP;t 1.0 c· 
rt•lMI?I(CAlt) ~l.nt• Or :.\ • ,f1111Jt 1.-: fore •111IJ tm..'UKt· 

• 

Gov. Cannon was adc.ed to pardon jack. Claiborne, a £r<c negro convicted under the Act of 18Jt. That ut. ahown ~bove., atce.mpted 
stop to the growth of the free blade: popu.lation in Te.nnecsv.. In 18)1) there were •.555 pusonf in 1ha1 eactgory. Despitt the 
te,crietiona, births bro1.1ght that number to about ~ .soo in 1840. 
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Forrest’s Brentwood Raid 
by Paul R. White 

 
Paul R. White, a native Nashvillian, is an attorney and historian. This paper 

was prepared and read at a meeting of the Brentwood Historical Seniors in 

2009. Paul White lives and works in Nashville and may be contacted by email at 

prwhitelaw@bellsouth.net. 

    
Nashville, the first and, thus far, the only 

Confederate capital taken by the Federals, had 

fallen in February 1862. After Shiloh in April 

1862, a disaster of epic proportions faced the 

nascent Confederacy. By June 6, 1862, all of 

Tennessee west of the Cumberland mountains was 

in Federal hands.
1
 It has been said that the 

Confederate Army of Tennessee was a far finer 

fighting force than its successes in the field would 

attest. After the death of Albert Sidney Johnston at 

Shiloh, the decision was made, the first of many to 

follow, to pick a commander who failed to grasp 

the particular capabilities of the Army of 

Tennessee. President Davis, ever in conflict with 

General P. G. T. Beauregard relieved that general 

of command in June 1862, with the army deep in 

Mississippi, and chose his West Point colleague 

and friend, the irascible, nervous, argumentative 

Braxton Bragg over other, perhaps more capable, 

men to command this army. Always ready to 

blame others for his own mistakes Bragg did, 

however, possess a masterful strategic capability 

that would prove to be of but little benefit in the 

attempted execution. He would command this 

army longer than anyone else.
2
 The moment 

appeared right to seize upon the momentum 

seemingly moving in the Confederacy’s favor in 

the late summer and early fall of 1862.  

 

The Federals had attempted to consolidate their 

hold on Middle Tennessee, moving out from 

                                                           
1
Thomas L. Connelly, Civil War Tennessee, Knoxville: The 

University of Tennessee Press, 1979, p. 51. 
2
Ibid., p. 53. 

Nashville for 

their hated 

foraging 

expeditions 

and to occupy 

the outlying 

towns. They 

accomplished 

this first by maintaining control of the railroads. 

Middle Tennessee was granted a respite in the fall 

of 1862 with Bragg’s incursion into Kentucky, but 

the defeat at Perryville in October 1862, and the 

one following at Murfreesboro in December 1862 

and January 1863 allowed the return of the Federal 

forces to Middle Tennessee. Thus by the opening 

months of 1863, they were astride the Nashville 

and Decatur Railroad south through Brentwood to 

Franklin. Along another rail line, the Alabama and 

Tennessee Railroad, they were in possession of 

Spring Hill.  

 

1863 has been called “The Year of the Battle for 

Chattanooga.” Assuming his Duck River line from 

January until June of 1863, Bragg allowed his 

three great cavalry generals, John Hunt Morgan, 

Joe Wheeler and Nathan Bedford Forrest, to 

launch a series of cavalry raids into Middle 

Tennessee and behind Federal lines. On March 5, 

1863, under the command of Major-General Earl 

Van Dorn, Forrest, ever resourceful with the 

enveloping -- or what is now called the pincer -- 

movement, got around the forces of Federal 

Colonel John Coburn, foraging en masse from 

Franklin to just north of Columbia. At 

Thompson’s Station, Brigadier-General William 

Nathan Bedford Forrest 
(1821-1877) 

-------------
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Hicks “Red” Jackson launched four attacks upon 

Coburn’s line before Forrest, on the far right of 

Coburn’s line, succeeded in surrounding him. As 

they moved up the Columbia Pike, Coburn 

determined to charge Forrest’s line. He later 

wrote: “‘Here we met and attacked Forrest’s 

division, which had gained our rear, and had been 

posted behind fences, trees, and other favorable 

positions. The brigade was formed with fixed 

bayonets,’ etc. It was a cardinal point of Forrest’s 

‘military make-up’ never to stand and take a 

charge, but, as he expressed it, to ‘charge too.’”
3
 

Short on ammunition after five hours of fighting, 

Coburn surrendered over 1,200 of his command.
4
 

Over eighty fine foraging wagons, ammunition, 

and other supplies were also taken. The Federals 

thought it a disaster for themselves. Forrest 

reported on the fine fighting spirit and morale of 

his troops. “I cannot speak in too high terms of the 

conduct of my whole command. The colonels 

commanding led their regiments in person, and it 

affords me much pleasure to say that officers and 

men performed their duty well. I discerned no 

straggling or shirking from duty on the field. 

Every order was promptly obeyed, and the bravery 

of the troops alike creditable to them and 

gratifying to their commanders.”
5
This battle cost 

Forrest one of his finest and most favored mounts 

in the war, Roderick.
6
 The general was not pleased 

                                                           
3
John Allan Wyeth, M. D., Life of General Nathan Bedford 

Forrest, New York and London: Harper & Brothers, 

Publishers, 1899, (reprint Harrisburg, Pa.: The Archive 

Society, 1995), p. 160 
4
Andrew Lytle reports the total of prisoners at 1,700. 

Andrew Lytle, Bedford Forrest and His Critter Company, 

Seminole, Florida: Green Key Press, 1931, 1984, p. 145. 
5
Brian Steel Wills, The Confederacy’s Greatest Cavalryman 

- Nathan Bedford Forrest, Lawrence, Kansas: University 

Press of Kansas (reprinted by arrangement with Harper 

Collins) [Originally published as A Fight From the Start, 

New York: Harper Collins, 1992], p. 105, citing Forrest’s 

Report, March 1863, Official Records of the War of the 

Rebellion, 23, Pt. 1, p. 121. 
6
Jack Hurst, Nathan Bedford Forrest, A Biography, New 

York: Vintage Books, a Division of Random House, Inc., 

March 1994, pp. 114-15. 

with this circumstance, and determined to enlarge 

upon the success of this raid with a following one 

upon Brentwood, largely because a portion of the 

22
nd

 Wisconsin had so ingloriously fled the field at 

Thompson’s Station and returned there. 

 

The Confederate commander, Nathan Bedford 

Forrest, was born in Bedford County, Tennessee, 

just slightly west of Chapel Hill, 13 July 1821, the 

son of William and Marian Beck Forrest. He had 

less than one year of formal education and was 

practically illiterate, though far from ignorant. He 

once said, “I never pick up a pen but what I think 

of a snake.”
7
 His father’s death when he was only 

sixteen left him, as the eldest male, feeling that the 

responsibility for the welfare of the family rested 

upon him, as it largely did in that time and place. 

He rose to meet that challenge successfully, as he 

would rise to meet so many others. He began 

trading in horses, cattle, slaves and real estate, and 

became an expert in the value and marketing of 

them all. He was worth over 1.5 million dollars 

when he enlisted as a private in Josiah White’s 

cavalry company on 14 June 1861, almost 

immediately after Tennessee seceded from the 

Union. He rose to the rank of Lieutenant General, 

the only person to do so from private in the 

Confederate Army. He was a successful 

businessman, estimable family man, and perceived 

gentleman in Memphis before the commencement 

of his outstanding military career. Impulsive, 

brash, and high-tempered, his instincts for hard 

hitting military action, though, were seldom in 

error. True to his perceived responsibility to his 

family, before the war was over four of his 

brothers would ride with him: Colonel Jeffrey E. 

Forrest, the youngest and originally Major of the 

8
th

 Tennessee Cavalry, would be killed in action; 

Lieutenant Colonel Jesse A. Forrest of the 16
th

 

Tennessee Cavalry; Captain W. H. “Tom” Forrest,  

 

                                                           
7
Vance Little, Historic Brentwood, Brentwood, Tennessee: 

JM Publications, a Division of JM Productions, Inc., 1985, 

p. 87. 
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The Union Stockade at Brentwood, built in 1862 to guard the railroad crossing at the Little Harpeth River. In 1863 
Confederate troops under Gen. Forrest captured the stockade and its contents, as well as several hundred Union soliders.  

(Battle of Nashville Preservation Society, Inc. image)  
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Company D of Forrest’s Old Regiment, the Escort; 

and Lieutenant William M. Forrest, the General’s 

aide-de-camp.
8
 Because of Forrest’s pre-war 

business ventures, all had become expert and 

highly accomplished horsemen. This was the 

highly capable, motivated and focused commander 

of the action at Brentwood. 

 

Brentwood in March 1863 was occupied by the 

22
nd

 Wisconsin and the 19
th

 Michigan. The 

Wisconsin Regiment of five hundred and twenty-

one men were in a stockade at the intersection of 

the Wilson Pike and Franklin Pike, now the site of 

the Brentwood Town Center.
9
 At that time, 

Wilson Pike intersected Scruggs Lane [the present 

Old Hickory Boulevard] just east of its 

intersection with the Franklin Pike. From this 

position, the Federals controlled the approaches on 

these pikes, present Old Hickory Boulevard, and 

the railroad depot which was used as a supply 

storehouse. “The timber in all directions had been 

felled to prevent surprise, and to enable the 

garrison to cover an advancing party.”
10

 The felled 

trees made a quarter mile buffer in all directions 

for the stockade.
11

 The Michigan Regiment, two 

hundred thirty strong, were in a stockade 

immediately adjacent to and west of the railroad 

bridge crossing the Little Harpeth River, one and a 

half miles to the southeast.
12

 The position of these 

                                                           
8
Richard H. Groves, Blooding the Regiment - An Account of 

the 22
nd

 Wisconsin’s Long and Difficult Apprenticeship, 

Scarecrow Press, 2005, p. 135. 
9
The location is the present site of the Ramparts Building, 

155 Franklin Road, Brentwood, Tn., T. Vance Little, Gently 

Flows the Harpeth, (Nashville, TN 37219, Panacea Press, 

2009), p. 112.. Vance Little related that Forrest marched into 

the fort through the front gate, located where the main front 

door of the Ramparts Building is now, Virginia Watson, e-

mail of 1 January 2011 to the author. 
10

Wyeth, supra, p. 166. 

11
Little, supra, p. 89. 

12
There is a green painted barn, the foundation of which is 

the remnant of this fortification. It is west of present 

Interstate 65, more readily visible as one comes north, on the 

back side of the Ashland Plantation property, formerly 

owned by Mr. and Mrs. Stirton Oman, now the property of 

two, at such a distance from one another, made the 

possibility of attacking and destroying them in 

detail all the more attractive to Forrest.  

 

The experiences of one young Confederate during 

the Brentwood raid illustrate one of the reasons for 

Forrest’s military success. Just prior to the 

operation, Newton Cannon volunteered for 

scouting duty. He recalled that Forrest asked him 

to infiltrate the area around Brentwood, taking 

‘notes of all roads and creeks of any size that [I] 

crossed and where I saw army boddies [units] of 

the enemy and report back.’ Cannon fulfilled his 

mission and hastened back to camp where the 

general laid out a crude map and ‘told me to mark 

out my trip going and coming stop at the crossing 

of road or creek and explain.’ During the raid, 

Cannon served as one of the pilots, or guides, for 

the main column. When Forrest released Cannon 

from his special assignment, he remarked to his 

adjutant ‘that he had sent several of the best men 

he had and that damned little boy had made him 

the only sensible report.’ Another of Forrest’s 

scouts recalled that he would send out squads ‘in 

every direction . . . constantly reporting to 

Forrest’s Headquarters movement or no 

movement.’ He explained that the general 

considered it ‘just as important for him [using his 

own language] ‘To know where they ain’t - as to 

know where they are.’
13

 

  

Receiving permission from Major-General Van 

Dorn for the planned attack, Forrest dispatched 

Colonel James W. Starnes, now commanding the 

old Forrest Brigade, on the 24
th

 of March, to move 

east, keeping Federally occupied Franklin on his 

left and to cross the Harpeth River some four 

miles east of the town. He was instructed to move 

                                                                                                   

the Cal Turner estate. Little, supra, p. 89. The existence and 

location of this edifice were confirmed for this paper by Joe 

Lassus, late City Planner for the City of Brentwood, and 
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Tennessee. 
13

Wills, supra, p. 107. 
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north along the turnpike, cutting the telegraph 

lines and destroying the rails. On the morning of 

the 25
th

, he would be joined by Forrest’s and Frank 

C. Armstrong’s commands, with artillery, to assist 

in the assault. He crossed the Harpeth River 

around midnight at Davis’s Mill. Before three 

o’clock that morning he was on the Wilson Pike 

near Brentwood, having destroyed the rails near 

Mallory Station and cut the telegraph.
14

  

 

Dawn comes around six o’clock in late March in 

Middle Tennessee. On the 25
th

, dawn broke cold, 

overcast, and with a misting rain.
15

 Many of the 

troops decided to sleep in, especially since the 

cooks were having some difficulty starting their 

breakfast fires due to the damp weather. Starnes 

positioned himself on a rise just west of the little 

hamlet, most likely the hill behind the present 

Shell station at Old Hickory Boulevard and 

Franklin Road, and awaited the arrival of Forrest, 

Armstrong and the artillery. Examining the 

strength of the force arrayed in the stockade before 

him, and realizing that his own units were 

inadequate to the task, he waited until half past 

seven before riding west along present Old 

Hickory Boulevard to the Hillsboro Pike. Forrest, 

meanwhile, had been detained by the artillery in 

crossing the rain-swollen Harpeth River, and made 

his approach to Brentwood by way of present 

Moore’s Lane and Holly Tree Gap. When Starnes 

failed to meet with them at the appointed 

rendezvous, Forrest proceeded toward Brentwood 

anyway. Two companies were dispatched to the 

Hillsboro Pike to cover Forrest’s rear, two more 

were dispatched to high ground north of 

Brentwood on the Franklin Pike to cover any 

intended retreat, or block help approaching from 

Nashville to the north. Most likely, this high 

ground was the site of the present Korean 

Presbyterian Church on Franklin Road. The six 

remaining companies, his escort, and the artillery  
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Wyeth, supra, p. 167. 

15
Groves, supra, p. 122. 

 

accompanied Forrest toward Brentwood.
16

  
 

Encountering Federal skirmishers, Forrest 

parlayed with them and asked Lieutenant-Colonel 

Edward Bloodgood, the Federal commander of the 

stockade to surrender. Bloodgood commanded 

about nine hundred men of the 22
nd

 Wisconsin 

Volunteer Infantry, 33
rd

 Indiana Volunteer 

Infantry, 19
th

 Michigan Volunteer Infantry, and the 

1
st
 Division 1

st
 United States Cavalry. Not 

convinced of the vulnerability of his position, 
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Ibid., p. 168. 

Lt. Col. Edward Bloodgood of the 22nd Wisconsin 
surrendered his soldiers at Brentwood to Gen. Forrest. 

(Wisconsin Historical Society image) 
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Bloodgood politely told Forrest to “come and take 

him if he could.” Forrest then split his command 

in order to further envelop the position. Freeman’s 

artillery was positioned on high ground southeast 

of the stockade, most likely the present interstate 

highway cut.
17

 

 

Meanwhile, Bloodgood had his wagons loaded 

and ordered them north toward Nashville. 

Thinking he might still break through toward 

Nashville before Forrest completed his 

envelopment, Bloodgood ordered the retreat 

toward Nashville. The wagons had not proceeded 

more than four hundred yards before they were 

attacked by the units Forrest had placed in the 

hollow just north of Brentwood, and west of the 

Franklin Pike, the present Korean Presbyterian 

Church. Bloodgood’s report states: “The last 

wagon had not left the camp when those in front 

were stopped by the enemy. The advanced 

companies had opened fire.” Bloodgood reported 

that the entire engagement, from start to finish, 

encompassed about “twenty five to thirty minutes 

in duration.”
18

 
 

The Federals had sustained total casualties of three 

hundred eleven killed, wounded, and missing to 

Forrest’s six. Bloodgood surrendered five hundred 

twenty-one men and officers of the 22
nd

 Wisconsin 

Volunteer Infantry, with a number of teamsters, 

horses, wagons, stores in the depot, new guns of 

all types, ammunition, tents, camp equipage, etc. 

In Forrest’s official report, he listed 275 prisoners, 

eleven wagons, three ambulances, and all arms 

and equipment of the Federal post. This was 

probably a low total, whether by design, or 

because of the vicissitudes of taking stock under 

less than ideal conditions is not now known. 

Bragg, in his report, listed 785 prisoners (probably 

more accurate if the total included those from the 

railroad fortification), and sixteen wagons. The 

Federal official report listed 529 prisoners, 
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Wyeth, supra, p. 168. 

18
Wyeth, supra, p. 169. 

seventeen wagons, and three ambulances.
19

  

 

Aware that his position was full of danger, with 

the possibility of entrapment between two heavily 

fortified Federal positions at Nashville and 

Franklin, Forrest enlisted the able General 

Armstrong to hurry the prisoners and all captured 

supplies and portable property west to the 

Hillsboro Pike and thence to the rear, and then to 

destroy everything in the way of supplies and 

equipment that could not be carried away. Next, 

Forrest turned his attention to the stockade 

guarding the railroad bridge over the Little 

Harpeth River, some mile and a half distant.  
 

 “After he had disposed his troops for an assault, 

he turned to [Charles W.] Anderson: ‘Captain, 

take in a flag of truce and tell them I have them 

completely surrounded, and if they don’t surrender 

I’ll blow hell out of them in five minutes and 

won’t take one of them alive if I have to sacrifice 

my men in storming their stockade.’ 
 

 “Captain Anderson looked all through his pockets 

for the little white handkerchief he had used at 

Brentwood, but it was nowhere to be found. He 

then suddenly remembered that it had been lost on 

a like mission to that post. The situation had 

suddenly grown embarrassing. It was the only 

white handkerchief in the command. Forrest 

looked at the bulging form of his favorite aide: 
 

“‘Strip off your shirt, sir.’ 
 

 “And this article, although technically long past 

the stage for such service, announced to Captain 

Bassett his fate. His 275 men, eleven wagons, 

three ambulances, and the stockade’s supplies 

were quickly delivered into the Confederate’s 

hands.”
20

 Only one of Forrest’s cannon had been 

discharged, with no loss of life. Two cannon shots 

had been necessary at Brentwood.  

 

                                                           
19

Wyeth, supra, p. 174. 

20
Lytle, supra, p. 146. 
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This victory was almost turned into a defeat. 

General Armstrong ordered the 10
th

 Tennessee to 

guard the rear of the captured wagon train. They 

remained too long in their salvage and burning 

activities at the stockade. Almost immediately 

upon leaving the Brentwood stockade, they were 

set upon by units of the Sixth Kentucky and 

Second Michigan Cavalry in columns of fours. 

Uncharacteristically, the Confederates broke and 

ran. Colonel Gordon with only three companies of 

his Fourth Mississippi, turned and deployed his 

troops to temporarily check the Federal advance. 

He was flanked by the 7
th

 Pennsylvania, and just 

as his line was about to buckle, Forrest himself, 

with his escort and the artillery, arrived upon the 

field, having turned when he heard gunfire in his 

rear. Forrest immediately assumed command, and 

waving a flag, and cursing vehemently, ordered his 

fleeing troops: “Fall in, every damned one of 

you.”
21

 Seeing that some would not respond to 

even this remonstrance, he seized a double-barrel 

shotgun and emptied both barrels into his fleeing 

troopers. “This radical measure was immediately 

effective, and he was soon able to make a very 

respectable showing with the troops he had 

rallied.”
22

 At just this moment, Starnes, who had 

been on the Hillsboro Pike earlier in the affray, 

arrived upon the field. Federal General Green Clay 

Smith, perceiving Forrest himself to be in 

command, and now feeling his own position to be 

in jeopardy, turned back toward Brentwood. 

Forrest reported that after hostilities ended, many 

of his men exchanged their older and inferior 

weapons for the newer and better Federal ones 

captured, and placed theirs in the wagon in 

exchange.
23

 Thus ended Forrest’s Brentwood 

Raid.  
 

 “The expedition had done the Northerners much 

damage; and, as Brentwood lay between Franklin 

and Nashville, two of General Rosecran’s 
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Wyeth, supra, pp. 172-73; Groves, supra, p. 138. 

22
Wyeth, supra, p. 173. 

23
Wyeth, supra, p. 173-74. 

strongest garrisons, it had been much more 

hazardous than the affair at Thompson’s Station.  
 

 

 

Forrest brought out three ambulances, nine six-

horse wagons, two two-horse wagons, sixty extra 

mules and six horses, besides 796 prisoners, 

although General Green Clay Smith almost 

recaptured the booty. This was done by a very 

small loss: one officer and three privates killed; 

three officers and thirteen privates wounded; and 

thirty-nine captured and missing.”
24

 
 

Between 29 March and 1 April 1863, the prisoners 

were marched by way of Hillsboro, Spring Hill, 

Columbia, Farmington, and Shelbyville, to 

Tullahoma. At Tullahoma, they were placed 

aboard train cars the Federals said had been used 

for transporting hogs, which were very fouled with 

                                                           
24

Lytle, supra, p. 146; Wyeth, supra, pp.169-70; this latter 

source is the most detailed account of the raid, and written 

closest to the events described in point of time. 

Confederate General Braxton Bragg (1817-1876), Forrest’s 
superior officer, was generally considered to be an 

ineffective commander. 
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animal feces, and transported to Libby Prison in 

Richmond via Chattanooga. 
 

Writing to the Army of Tennessee, 31 March 

1863, General Braxton Bragg praised both Forrest 

and Van Dorn, and concluded his message thusly: 

“The skillful manner in which these generals 

achieved such success exhibits clearly the 

judgment, discipline, and good conduct of the 

brave troops of their command. Such signal 

examples of duty deserve the applause and 

gratitude of their comrades in arms and their 

country.”
25

 The Federal commanders were much 

less sanguine in their remarks. Writing on the 25
th

, 

Mitchell said of Bloodgood: “He seems to have 

surrendered and without an effort to change 

position or to make resistance worthy of the name 

of a fight.” On 3 April General Gordon Granger, 

over-all commander of both Bloodgood and 

Smith, was then calling both Bloodgood and 

Bassett “milk and water soldiers.” He continued: 

“From all I can ascertain, Lieutenant Colonel 

Bloodgood surrendered Brentwood and Captain 

Bassett the stockade, unnecessarily after firing but 

very few shots, and without having a man either 

killed or wounded. Had they fought for one hour, 

our cavalry and infantry would have arrived on the 

spot and cut the Rebels to pieces.”
26

 Maybe so, but 

this was Forrest with whom they were contending. 

Smith had tried and failed, and Granger, not 

engaged in this fight, had the benefit of perfect 

hindsight. 
 

With the ammunition and equipment captured at 

Brentwood, Forrest replenished the supplies of his 

command, and was able the following month to 

spring a trap on Colonel Abel Streight and 

persuade him to surrender his command, 1,466 

strong to Forrest’s barely 400. Sent to raid through 

Alabama, and disrupt Bragg’s line of supply on the 

Western and Atlantic railroad running from 

Nashville to Atlanta, Streight was tricked by 
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Wyeth, supra, p. 175. 

26
Groves, supra, p. 139. 

Forrest into believing himself to be outnumbered 

and surrounded. Forrest used the feint of 

encircling the place where he was meeting with 

Streight with his cannon and convincing his 

adversary that he had more than the thirteen guns 

Streight had been able to count. After his 

surrender, and realizing his error, he was told by 

Forrest: “Ah, Colonel, all is fair in love and war 

you know.”
27

 
 

Forrest is famously remembered for his oft quoted 

remark “War means fighting and fighting means 

killing.” He was an exemplary model of both 

during the conflict, but knew when the fight was 

over. He surrendered his command under the 

terms of the surrender of General Richard Taylor 

at Gainesville, Alabama in May 1865.  
 

Robert E. Lee was visited in Lexington, Virginia, 

after the war by a British aide-de-camp to the 

Queen, a member of the Coldstream Guards, who 

asked him in his opinion, who was the greatest 

general in the Confederacy. Expecting Lee to 

name himself, the British officer was no doubt 

taken aback by the response. “That honor goes to a 

gentleman I have never had the privilege of 

meeting, Lieutenant General Nathan Bedford 

Forrest of Tennessee.” General Hans Guderian of 

the German General Staff used the tactics of 

Forrest to craft for his army masters the fabled 

Blitzkreig tactics of mechanized armor combat 

which were so successful in Europe during the 

early days of World War II. His tactics are studied 

still at the United States Military Academy at West 

Point. Forrest’s perfection of this tactic was ahead 

of his time.  
 

It has been said that in war, the generals are 

always fighting the last war when a new one starts. 

Such was the situation with many who had studied 

Napoleon’s tactics at West Point, or participated in 

the Mexican War when the War Between the 

States commenced. They were ill-prepared to deal 

with one whose brashness was not constrained by 
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the studied tactics of either 

school of thought. Forrest had 

studied human nature in the 

purchase and sale of human 

beings, a school no military man 

whom he faced had attended. 

And Forrest had learned his 

lessons well. He applied his 

knowledge to assess the 

strengths, weaknesses, pride, and 

gullibility of his adversaries, 

turning their personality defects 

against them in many instances. 

Brentwood is but one example of 

the success of this psychological 

game; it played out equally well 

with Abel Streight. If, however, 

he encountered someone not 

amenable to his gentle 

ministrations to surrender, then 

he truly would attempt to utterly 

and ruthlessly destroy them. Fort 

Pillow is an example of this other 

tendency of his. He was a self-

trained military genius, a 

Southern cavalier par excellence, 

just the sort of one upon whose 

brashness and unpredictability 

the country was founded and 

perpetuated. He was ever 

controversial, and after the war is 

said to have founded the Ku Klux 

Klan at Pulaski. Congress, after the War, in a 

lengthy and exhaustive series of hearings, 

exonerated him of any wrongdoing at Fort Pillow. 

He died in Memphis, Tennessee 29 October 1877 

of what is now thought to have been acute 

diabetes. He was a mere fifty-six years of age.   

 

Several years ago, while researching another 

project at the Tennessee State Library and 

Archives, I casually mentioned to the librarian that 

the man whose records we were seeking in the 

State Penitentiary convict ledgers was allegedly 

once a trooper under Forrest. That lady rolled her 

eyes and said to me: “Ah, yes, 

Forrest; the American 

Taliban.” I was stunned. What 

a thoughtless, senseless 

remark. There is no basis for 

such a comparison. Of the 

many things I thought I could 

have said, I remained 

uncharacteristically silent, 

largely out of a desire to have 

her help me complete my 

research. I thought to myself 

“you poor misguided creature, 

and to think that the good 

people of the State of 

Tennessee pay you to be the 

guardian of the history of this 

people.”  

 

For good or ill, we as a people 

are the product of all of our 

history and experience. Take 

away any part of it, and you 

alter the composition that 

made this thing called history 

turn out the way that it did. We 

are all, each of us, the 

guardians of the history of our 

place, our people, and those 

also of another time. Guard 

well this sacred trust. As you 

execute your responsibility to 

this trust, so will another generation learn from 

you how to care for the record of your own history. 

And with all of our care, let us also remember that 

time and circumstance influence what we make of 

our lives, and one generation cannot, should not, 

attempt to judge the past by any other standard 

than that of its time. To do otherwise is to impose 

the arrogance of cultural relativism on the past. 

Just as some would seek to excoriate those of the 

past for failing to live up to the norms and 

expectations of our time, so a future people might, 

erroneously, be taught to judge our own time.     █ 

From the  
Nashville Daily Union 
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Claibourn Harp of Coffee County: 
Petition of an “Old and Decripped” resident, 1839 
 

“Mr. Woodson Northcut, please present this petition to the General Assembly and oblige yours & etc. [signed] 

Claibourn Harp. 

 

“To the Honourable the General Assembly of the State of Tennessee now in Session at Nashville. 

 

“The memorial of Claibourn Harp a citizen of the Town of Manchester in the county of Coffee, Sheweth unto Your 

honourable body that he is old and decripped [sic], so much so that he is unable to support his family by his 

labour, that his means of supporting them is very limited and that he desires to follow some occupation, to make his 

living honestly. He begs leave further to state that some years ago, on account of his crippled situation, the General 

Assembly granted him the privilege of Pedling without license, that he has become too old and infirm to peddle. He 

therefore prays your Honourable body to Grant him the priviladge to sell Beer Cakes, nuts, Oranges, Liquers & 

etc. without license and lay him under any restrictions to keep an orderly house that Your Honourable body may 

think proper, and as in duty bound will ever pray & etc.  [signed] Claibourn Harp 

 

“We the undersigned to certify that we have been a long time acquainted with Claibourn Harp the above named 

Memorialist, that we have always found him to be an honest orderely man, and the we do believe that if the 

[permission?] prayed for is granted him he will not abuse it.” 

 

1. John Brew[er?]  

2. Sandy M. Purdom  

3. Henry Brewer  

4. Stephen H. Ford  

5. Thomas Alison  

6. Milton Fields[?]  

7. Jurdin Anderson  

8. Litel Adames  

9. John Adames  

10. Thomas Oliver  

11. John K. Turner  

12. Arjah Elliott  

13. Peter Arnel  

14. Will Armstrong  

15. Daniel McLean  

16. [J.?] W. Mosley  

17. H.L. Sheid  

18. Daneil Tylor[?]  

19. F.R. Grunt  

20. Lecil Bobo  

21. F.S. Worley  

22. Robert Nevils  

23. Joseph Gentry  

24. Gabriel Jones  

25. John Bell  

26. Jas. M. Stephens  

27. Bedford Turner[?]  

28. George Messick  

29. ditto ditto 

30. Martin Wright  

31. Abner Kuykendall  

32. Stephen Alliott 

33. James H. Daniel  

34. Nelson A. Phillips  

35. John Charles, Esqr.  

36. James Richardson  

37. Sidney Clay, Esq.  

38. Joel O. Thacker  

39. Zacriah Austin  

40. John Brandon  

41. James R. Brandon  

42. Merith Stroud  

43. R.H. Ensly  

44. Elbum Bowls  

45. John Adams [Junior?] 

46. Nelson Adams 

47. William Newman 

48. Hugh Oneall 

49. Joseph Carrol 

50. Moses B. Childress 

51. John D. Robertson 

52. Daniel Wiser 

53. William Woodall 

54. Alford Taylor 

55. Thomas Daniel 

56. W.B. Arnold 

57. Joseph Rhea 

58. Abraham Williamson[?] 

59. Richard Cunningham 

Hiram McCoy[?] 

60. Joshual Dazell[?] 

61. James Nicholas 

Michael Stroud[?] 

 

[Notations on reverse]  Refered to Committee on Proportions[?] and G---[?] Nov. 12
th
. Rejected Nov. 16

th
. 

Northcutt.Reported unfavorably by the Committee of Propositions[?] and Grievances [signed] P. Walker, 

Chairman 
Legislative Petitions, Record Group 60, Petition #1839-11 (Tenn. State Library & Archives) 

-------------
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An Illinois Yankee in Stewart Chancery Court: 
Interesting Graffiti Left Behind by Federal Troops in 1862 Dover 
by Jim Long 

 

The Stewart County Courthouse was burned in the summer of 1862 by Federal troops who 

had occupied the town of Dover following the fall of Fort Donelson in February of that year
1
. 

Prior to the fire, most of the county’s records had been removed to safety, and were, 

according to local tradition, stored in a cave near Tobaccoport, a few miles downriver from 

Dover. Thankfully, Stewart County is an immensely well-preserved county today, with most 

county books and thousands of loose records having survived the war. The Chancery Court 

of Stewart County is a lone exception, with almost all of its pre-war records lost, presumably 

in the fire that destroyed the courthouse. This is the story of the one Chancery Court record 

that survived the war, and of the man who saved it. 

 

John Jones was born in 1833 in Fayette County, Indiana
2
. By 1850, he was living in adjacent Rush County, Indiana, 

with his parents, who were from New Jersey and Kentucky
3
. The Jones family then moved on to Clay County, 

Illinois, where John married Mary Jane ____ about 1851. By the time of the 1860 Federal census, John and Mary 

Jane Jones had 4 children and were living in Louisville, Clay County, Illinois, where John was a laborer.
4
 

 

On September 2, 1861, after the start of the Civil War, John Jones enlisted in Company B of the 48
th
 Illinois 

Regiment, USA, as a musician
5
. The 48

th
 Illinois spent the winter of 1861-1862 at Cairo, Illinois, and set out on 

February 2, 1862, for Fort Henry on the Cumberland River in Tennessee.. The regiment was involved in the capture 

of Fort Henry on February 6
th
 and Fort Donelson on February 16

th
, and was garrisoned at Fort Donelson following 

the battle there.
6
 

 

On February 19
th
, 1862, three days after the surrender of Fort Donelson, 28-year-old Private John Jones went from 

Fort Donelson into Dover and walked into the Stewart County Courthouse, looking for blank paper. It is likely that 

the courthouse had been deserted by the townspeople when the Union Army marched into Dover. In the Clerk and 

Master’s office, Jones found a Chancery Court minute book with some blank pages inside. With no one there to 

stop him from doing as he pleased, he opened the front cover, and 

wrote the following
7
: 

 

 

John Jones’s Book 

Fort Donelson, Ten 

Feb. 19
th

 1862 

Specimen of J. Jones’s 

Penmanship 

 

 

____________ 
Jim Long, the new MTGS Webmaster, is a volunteer at the Stewart 
County Archives and has compiled several books of Stewart County 
records, available from the Archives. He can be reached by email at 
jimlong@comcast.net 

_L_ ____________ _ 

\~/' 

1 ' ),l,:;w)' 
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In this front cover, he also wrote his wife’s name and his brother’s name: 

 

Mary Jane Jones Benjamin Jones 

Louisville, Clay Co.,  Louisville, Ills., Clay 

County County 

Ills. 

 

Was he perhaps intending to send this book home to his family as a souvenir? 

 

Evidently, Jones carried the book back to camp and kept it with him. Over the next two weeks in February 1862, 

John Jones and his fellow soldiers from Company B of the 48
th
 Illinois practiced their penmanship in this Chancery 

Court book, filling many of the blank spots in the book with words and phrases both mundane and fascinating. 

Some of the writings suggest that John was thinking not only of his family, but also of his own mortality and the 

uncertainty of war: 

 

 “Remember thy Creator in the Days of thy Youth” 

 “Remember me, Mary Jane” 
 

Some of the pages simply show, as John Jones had announced, samples of his penmanship, written in the blank 

areas amongst the Chancery Court entries: 

 
William Washington Washburn Whale Williams 

 

 
Amendment  Commandment  Bombardment   January 1862 

 

 
Pennsylvania   Pneumatic   Penmanship   Pilgrim  Paymaster 

 

 
Penmanship 

 

Names of the following men, most Jones’ company and regiment, are also written in the book. Some of the entries 

are the signatures of the men, while others are in John Jones’ handwriting. 

 
William Y. Sneed  Co. B 

William J. Stephenson Captain, Co. B, 48th Regiment 

F. D. Stephenson  Co. B 

F. Cooper 

Sirrus D. Kendal 

Finemore Williams 

Andrew J. Millman Co. B 

Anderson Webster Co. B 

William Billings 

I. N. Haynie  Colonel, 48th Regiment 

John Brewer  Co. B 

Elbert S. Apperson Co. B 
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William C. Corder  Co. B 

Andrew J. Hensley Co. B 

Isaac Mullins  Co. B 

James Mullins  Co. B 

James Connely  Co. B 

William H. Maxwell Co. B 

Charles D. Monroe Co. B 

Elihu Pridemore  Co. B 

Simeon H. Neff  Co. B 

Andrew Fender  Co. B 

Thomas Keneda  Co. B 

Andrew J. Beal  Co. B 

William J. Brewer  Co. B 

David Brewer  Co. B 

W. W. Sanford – Col. Col., 48th Regiment 

James Limes  Co. B 

Barnet Pedigo  Co. B 

Gilbert Williams    

George Linch  Co. B 

Nathan Etheson  Co. B 

John Rose  Co. B 

Anthony McManiway Co. B 

James Ranes  Co. B 

Rob Ranes  Co. B 

 

Some of John’s fellow soldiers took their turns writing in the book as well: 

 “One million one thousand and thirty two Dol. & 50 cts.” – Finemore Williams 

 

One of the soldiers wrote a riddle: 

 
 “There was a man of Adam’s race, who had a certain dwelling place. It was not in heaven nor yet in 

hell, nor on this Earth where mortals dwell. Pray tell to me this man of fame:  his place of dwelling and his 

name.” 

 

Not only was John Jones practicing his penmanship, he was also apparently practicing a more ordinary style of 

writing: 

 
“Fort Donelson, Feb. 27th, 1862:  This is a fair specimen of my business writing, with a poor pen. 

John Jones of Company B, 48th Ill.” 

 

These ‘boys of Company B’ must have had a facsimile of the Declaration of Independence handy, possibly 

obtained from the courthouse as well. They also practiced the signatures of several of its signers among the pages 

of the book:  

   

 
 

 

 

Were they practicing signatures just to pass the time in camp, or was there another purpose?  Consider  

the following entry: 
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“Fort Donelson, Feb. 27

th
, 1862 – Guards’ pass, Wm. Billings to Dover on business and Return. 

 Wm. J. Stephenson, Capt. Co. B 48
th

 Regt.” 

The entry appears to be in John Jones’ handwriting. Why was he practicing his captain’s signature? 
 

Later in the book is the following, written in the book three separate times, which may explain why John Jones was 

practicing his penmanship and various signatures: 

 
“To all whom it may concern – The barer hereof, John Jones, a private of Capt. Stephenson’s Company, 48

th
 

Regiment of Illinois Vol., aged 28 years, 5 feet 9 ½ inches high, dark complexion, grey eyes, auburn hair, and 

by profession a carpenter; Born in the town of Summersett, Fayett County, Indiana, and enlisted at 

Louisville, in County of Clay, State of Ills., on the 2
nd

 day of September 1861, to serve for the period of three 

years, is hereby permitted to go to the town of Louisville in the County of Clay, State of Illinois, he having 

received a furlow from the ____ day of ______ to the day ____ of ____, at which period he will rejoin his 

Company or Regiment at Fort Donelson, or wherever it then may be, or be considered a deserter. 

Subsistance has been furnished to John Jones to the ____ day of ____ and pay to the _____ day of _____, 

both inclusive. Given under my hand at _____ this _____ day of _____ 1862.” 
 

It is unknown whether John Jones actually obtained a furlough and went home to Illinois for a period of time. The 
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Chancery Court book does have some of its pages torn out, on which may have been written furloughs and other 

items of company business. 
 

After staying a couple of weeks, the 48
th
 Illinois left Fort Donelson on March 4, 1862

8
. The regiment went south to 

Savannah, Tennessee, and took part in the battle at Shiloh on April 6-7 and the battle at Corinth in late April. From 

June 1862 through May 1863, the 48
th
 was stationed at Bethel, Tennessee, in Perry County

9
. In June 1863, John 

Jones was promoted to 1
st
 Lieutenant and was transferred to a command in the 1

st
 Tennessee Colored Infantry (aka 

59
th
 U. S. Colored Troops).

10
 

 

John Jones’ assignment with the U. S. Colored Troops lasted a little less than a year. By early 1864, he was back 

home in Illinois, where he enlisted as a Corporal in the 98
th
 Regiment, Illinois Volunteer Infantry. With the 98

th
 

Illinois, John was stationed at Kennesaw Mountain, Georgia, near Atlanta. In June 1865, he transferred to the 61
st
 

Regiment, Illinois Volunteer Infantry, and mustered out of service from that regiment in September, 1865, at 

Nashville.
11

 
 

After the war, John Jones went back home to Illinois. In 1880, he applied for a soldier’s pension. By 1885, he was 

in Howell County, Missouri, where he married his 2
nd

 wife, Mary J. Campbell, with whom he had three more 

children. John Jones died in Howell County, Missouri on February 21, 1901, at age 67, and was buried in Mountain 

View Cemetery, Howell County.
12

 
 

The last date written in the Chancery Court book by the 48
th
 Illinois is February 29, 1862, four days before the 

regiment left Dover. The book may have been returned to the courthouse before the regiment left town, but it would 

have had to have been placed in an office other than the Clerk and Master’s office from which it had been taken, as 

nothing else from the Clerk and Master’s office, except for this book, survived the courthouse fire that occurred 

later that year. The subsequent Chancery Court minute book, which begins in July 1865, mentions the loss of that 

court’s pre-war records and the need to reconstruct the documentation of the cases that were active when the war 

began. It also discusses the need to replace the court’s incumbent Clerk and Master, Clay Roberts, because he had 

served in the Confederacy
13

. Possibly it was Roberts’ service in the Confederate army that resulted in the records of 

his Clerk and Master’s office being left in the courthouse at the time it was burned, when records of other offices 

were removed to safety.  
 

Perhaps Jones took the book with him when he left town, and either he or his family sent it back to Dover at a later 

date. The Tennessee State Library and Archives has a book which was taken from the State Library by soldiers 

during the war and returned by the family decades later. Regardless, John Jones’ selection of this ‘penmanship 

book’ , saved it.  The book is a treasured holding at the Stewart County Archives in Dover. 
 

Have you solved that riddle which a soldier of the 48
th
 wrote in the book?  The man’s name was Jonah, and his 

place of dwelling was the whale’s belly. 
 

Endnotes: 
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The Defective, Dependent, and Delinquent 
Schedules of the 1880 Tennessee Census 

 

Hickman and Houston Counties 
 

Abstracted by 
Gale Williams Bamman, CG SM

 
Copyright © 2012

 

 

The DDD Schedules, as they are often called, were part of the non-

population schedules supplementing the 1880 federal census, and 

were created to help the government decide on funding 

appropriations for institutions and health programs. On each of the 

following schedules of the DDDs, the census-takers were instructed 

to give an account of the location and condition of persons who met 

these descriptions: 

 

The following questions were asked on all seven of the DDD schedules: 
name of the afflicted person; county and district where enumerated; county of residence; and location in the population schedule.  

 

The remainder of the questions pertained to each particular class of persons:  

 

Insane Inhabitants: form of disease; duration of current attack; age at first attack; if requires restraint; if ever institutionalized and for 

how long; if additional features, such as epileptic suicidal, or homicidal. Distinction was to be made between persons with deterioration 

of mental power, such as dementia and those born defective; the latter were to be classified as Idiots. 

 

Idiots: supposed cause; age of occurrence; size of person’s head [at that time considered as significant]; if self-supporting or partly so; if 

ever in training school and for how long; and if additional illnesses present (insane, blind, deaf, paralyzed).  

 

Deaf-Mutes: supposed cause; age of occurrence; if semi- or totally deaf and/or mute; if ever institutionalized; if also insane, idiotic, or 

blind. Enumerators were instructed to inquire about deaf-mutes and their residences from physicians in the area and also from 

schoolteachers.  

 

Blind: if self-supporting; age at occurrence; form; supposed cause; if totally or semi-blind; if ever in an institution for the blind; length 

of time there; date of discharge; if also insane, idiotic, deaf-mute. Those who could see well enough to read were not to be placed on this 

schedule. 

 

Homeless Children: whether father and/or mother were deceased; whether abandoned or surrendered; whether born in an institution, or 

year admitted; whether illegitimate; if separated from his/her mother; if ever arrested, and why; if origins were “respectable;” whether 

removed from criminal surroundings; if blind, deaf-mute or idiotic.  

 

Inhabitants in Prisons: place of imprisonment; whether awaiting trial, serving a term, or serving out a fine; if awaiting execution, or 

transfer to higher prison, or if held as a witness; if imprisoned for debt, or for insanity; date incarcerated; alleged offense; fine; number 

of days in jail or workhouse, or years in penitentiary; whether at hard labor, and if so, whether contracted out. Enumerators were also to 

ask these questions of wardens or keepers of any prison, “station-house, or lock-up in their respective districts.” 

 

Paupers and Indigent: if supported wholly or partly at cost of city, county, or state; or at cost of institution; whether able-bodied; 

whether habitually intemperate; if epileptic; if ever convicted of a crime; if disabled; if born in the institution, or date of admission; 

whether others of the family were also in that establishment; if also blind, deaf and dumb, insane, idiotic. Paupers living in individual 

homes who were supported partly or fully at county cost were referred to by the Census Office, as “outdoor paupers,” to distinguish 

them from paupers in institutions. 

 

-------------
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For a more-detailed discussion of the DDD Schedules and this abstracting project, please see Part I, in the Summer 2005 issue of this 

journal (Volume XIX, no. 1), pp. 32-40. The question “Residence when at home” is not abstracted unless it differs from the place 

enumerated. The additional data in these abstracts comes from the population schedules and does not appear on the DDD Schedules 

themselves. The interpretation of the records may contain deciphering errors. The reader is encouraged to view the originals on microfilm. If 

any mistakes are noted, please contact the compiler with that information. 

 
 

Hickman County 
(continued) 

 

 

Phillips, Grandison: Pauper and Indigent Schedule, 

enumerated Hickman Co.; supported at county cost, not 

able-bodied; cause: old age. [s.d.4,e.d.86; see 

Pop.Sch.p.8,ln.21] Pop.Sch.: age 110, black, male, 

father-in-law, in household of Dave Clark. 

 

Williams, Mary: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; not self-supporting, never in an institution. Also: 

Pauper and Indigent Schedule; able-bodied; admitted 

June 1870. [s.d.4,e.d.85; see Pop.Sch.p.12,ln.15] 

Pop.Sch.: age 35, white, female, pauper, in household 

of M. L. Ratliff. 

 

Williams, Mit: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; not self-supporting, never in an institution. Also: 

Pauper and Indigent Schedule; supported at county cost; 

admitted June 1870. [s.d.4,e.d.85; see 

Pop.Sch.p.13,ln.17] Pop.Sch.: age 40, white, female, 

pauper, in household of M. L. Ratliff. 

 

Jones, J. H. C.: Insane Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; not self-supporting, never an inmate of an 

institution. [s.d.4,e.d.85; see Pop.Sch.p.24,ln.10] 

Pop.Sch.: age 31, white, male, brother, in household of 

J. T. Jones. 

 

Lovell, Jesse: Pauper and Indigent Schedule, 

enumerated Hickman Co., Asylum for the Poor; 

supported at county cost, able-bodied, born deformed, 

admitted 2 January 1873. [s.d.4,e.d.85; see 

Pop.Sch.p.5,ln.36] Pop.Sch.: age 48, white, male, 

pauper, brother, in household of J. A. Lovell. 

 

Richmon, J. D. W.: Pauper and Indigent Schedule, 

enumerated Hickman Co.; supported at county cost, not 

able-bodied; consumption; admitted July 187_[?]. 

[s.d.4,e.d.85; see Pop.Sch.p.12,ln.14] Pop.Sch.: age 53, 

white, male, pauper, in household of M. L. Ratliff. 

 

Goodwin, M.: Pauper and Indigent Schedule, 

enumerated Hickman Co., supported at county cost; 

able-bodied, admitted Nov.[?] 1879. [s.d.4,e.d.85; see 

Pop.Sch.p.12,ln.17] Pop.Sch.: M. Goodin, age 30, 

white, female, pauper, in household of M. L. Ratliff. 

[Indexed by Ancestry.com as Rattiff.] 

 

Warren, A. J.: Insane Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; pay-patient in institution, melancholia; duration of 

present attack, 10 yrs., 3 attacks, age at 1
st
 attack: 17; 

chained. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.29,ln.7] Pop.Sch.: 

age 34,  white, male, son, in household of W. R. 

Warren. 

  

Overbey, S. P.: Insane Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; duration of present attack: 1 year; confined. 

[s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.35,ln.31] Pop.Sch.: age 40, 

white, female, daughter, in household of Edward 

Overbey. 

 

Cheatham, Jeff: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; self-supporting; small head. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.6,ln.15] 

 

Arnold, James: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; partly self-supporting; afflicted at age 3; large 

head. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.9,ln.39] 

 

Russel, Margaret: Idiots Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at birth; large 

head. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.9,ln.38] 

 

Gordon, Andrew J.: Idiots Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at age 4 yrs., 

brain fever; natural head. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.10,ln.42] 

 

Berry, Jeff Davis: Idiots Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at birth; large 

head. Also: Deaf-Mutes Schedule; afflicted at age 1; 

semi-mute, semi-deaf, never in an institution. Also: 

Prisoners Schedule. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.12,ln.41] Pop.Sch.: age 18, white, male, 

son, prisoner, in household of James Berry. 
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Berry, Fannie: Idiots 

Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; not self-

supporting, afflicted at 

birth; natural head. 

[s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.12,ln.43] 

 

Clymer, J. P.: Idiots 

Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; self-

supporting; afflicted at 

birth; natural head. 

[s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.14,ln.17] 

 

Rivers, M. A.: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at birth; natural head. 

[s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.16,ln.28] 

 

Malugin, M. L.: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; not self-supporting, afflicted at age 11/12, brain 

fever; natural head. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.16,ln.35] 

 

Ragin, George: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at birth. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.15,ln.41] 

 

Allred, W. L.: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; self-supporting; afflicted at birth; natural head. 

[s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.22,ln.26] 

 

Warf, Roger: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; self-supporting; afflicted at birth; natural head. 

[s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.23,ln.29] 

 

Jones, Mary: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; self-supporting; afflicted at birth, semi-

deaf, never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.5,ln.16] 

 

Walker, John: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; self-supporting; afflicted at birth, semi-

deaf. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.5,ln.20] 

 

Howel, Mary J.: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; self-supporting; afflicted at birth; semi-

deaf, never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.7,ln.7] 

 

McDowel, L.: Deaf-

Mutes Schedule, 

enumerated Hickman 

Co.; self-supporting, 

afflicted at age 15 yrs., 

scarlet fever, semi-deaf, 

never in an institution. 

Also: Blind Schedule; 

semi-blind. [s.d.4,e.d.84; 

see Pop.Sch.p.6,ln.45] 

Pop.Sch.: Lucindy 

McDowel, age 25, white, 

female, wife, in 

household of Howel 

McDowel. 

  

Fitzgerald, William: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, 

enumerated Hickman Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at 

birth; semi-deaf, never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.84; 

see Pop.Sch.p.15,ln.20] 

 

Dwire, Ruth: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.5,ln.22] 

 

Anderson, Charlotte: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, 

enumerated Hickman Co. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.20,ln.21] 

 

Reaves, John: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at age 60, 

cause: age; semi-deaf. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.20,ln.40] 

 

Anglin, W. A.: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; not self-supporting, afflicted at age 3, 

fever. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.40,ln.9] 

 

Green, Virginia: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; not self-supporting, afflicted at age 1; 

[answer to “if ever in an institution”:] in University of 

Tenn,. 3 yrs. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.22,ln.9] 

 

McKissack, Peter: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at age 25, ague, 

semi-mute, never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.23,ln.20] 

 

Jenkins, Elizabeth: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.22,ln.29] 

 

Orphanage ca. 1880 
from the Library of Congress’ American Memory collection 
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Warren, Rachel: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.19,ln.10] 

 

Russell, E. D.: Blind Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.21,ln.23] Pop.Sch.: 

age 32, white, female, wife, in household of B. T. 

Russel. 

 

Johnson, N. H.: Blind Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.17,ln.44] Pop.Sch.: 

age 75, white, female, wife, in household of G. M. 

Johnson. 

 

Reaves, Jane: Blind Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; partly self-supporting, afflicted at age 73; semi-

blind, never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.4,ln.10] Pop.Sch.: age 74, white, female, 

mother, in household of R.[?] J. Reaves. 

 

Rosson, E.: Blind Schedule, enumerated Hickman Co.; 

self-supporting, afflicted at birth, semi-blind, never in 

an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.4,ln.33] 

Pop.Sch.: Elizabeth Rosson, age 46, white, female, 

wife, in household of William Rosson. 

 

Andrews, Louise: Blind Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; not self-supporting, afflicted at age 6, 

scarlet fever, totally blind, never in an institution. 

[s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.4,ln.27] Pop.Sch.: age 30, 

black, female, daughter, in household of Benjamin 

Andrews. 

 

McClard, J. W.: Blind Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at age 2, nervous fever, 

semi-blind, never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.21,ln.46.] Pop.Sch.: J. W. McCord, age 21, 

white, male, head of household. [Indexed by 

Ancestry.com as McCord.] 

 

Williams, Mary: Blind Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at age 36, sore eyes, 

totally blind, never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.15,ln.46] Pop.Sch.: age, 48, white, female, 

wife, in household of J. R.Williams. 

 

Warf, Elisa: Blind Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; self-supporting; afflicted at birth, semi-blind, never 

in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.4, ln.32] 

Pop.Sch.: age 9, white, female, daughter, in household 

of Roger Warf. 

 

Bryant, J. C.: Blind Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; not self-supporting, afflicted at age 60, sore eyes, 

totally blind, never in an institution. Also: Pauper and 

Indigent Schedule; supported at county cost; disability: 

old age. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.5,ln.2] Pop.Sch.: 

age 75, white, male, head of household. 

 

Bryant, Sarah: Blind Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; not self-supporting, afflicted at age 20, sore eyes, 

totally blind, never in an institution. Also: Pauper and 

Indigent Schedule. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.5,ln.3] 

Pop.Sch.: age 75, white, female, wife, in household of 

C. Bryant. 

 

Mayberry, Aaron: Blind Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at age 32; 

cause: knocked out; semi-blind, never in an institution. 

[s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.5,ln.5] Pop.Sch.: age 55, 

black, male, head of household. 

 

Tyler, James: Blind Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; not self-supporting, afflicted at age 14, stuck in the 

eye, semi-blind; never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.84; 

see Pop.Sch.p.5,ln.29] Pop.Sch.: age 46, white, male, 

head of household. 

 

Anglin, M.: Blind Schedule, enumerated Hickman Co.; 

not self-supporting, afflicted at age 59, neuralgia, totally 

blind. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see Pop.Sch.p.6,ln.3] Pop.Sch.: 

Matilda Anglin, age 69, white, female, mother, in 

household of G. W. Anglin. 

 

Moss, James: Blind Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at age 37, semi-blind, 

never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.6,ln.40] Pop.Sch.: James J. Moss, age 67, 

white, male, head of household. 

 

Hooper, M.: Blind Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; not self-supporting, afflicted at age 38, neuralgia, 

totally blind, never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.84; see 

Pop.Sch.p.9,ln.16] Pop.Sch.: Margaret Hooper, age 44, 

white, female, wife, in household of James Hooper. 

 

Warren, W. R.: Blind Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at age 60, neuralgia, 

semi-blind, never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.84: see 

Pop.Sch.p.10,ln.5] Pop.Sch.: age 62, white, male, head 

of household. 
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Grimes, George: Insane 

Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; Also: Idiots 

Schedule. [s.d.4,e.d.83; see 

Pop.Sch.p.6,ln.35] 

Pop.Sch.: age 12, white, 

male, son, in household of 

G. L. Grimes. 

 

Baker, Pamelia: Deaf-

Mutes Schedule, 

enumerated Hickman Co. 

[s.d.4,e.d.83; see 

Pop.Sch.p.10,ln.14] 

 

Hines, Mary E.: Idiots 

Schedule, enumerated Hickman Co., not self-

supporting, afflicted at age 4, scarlet fever; natural head, 

never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.82; see 

Pop.Sch.p.2,ln.26] 

 

McGee, William: Idiots Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co., partly self-supporting, afflicted at birth, 

congenital; natural head, never in an institution. 

[s.d.4,e.d.82; see Pop.Sch.p.5,ln.24] 

 

Martin, James B.: Idiots Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co., not self-supporting, afflicted at birth, 

congenital; natural head, never in an institution. 

[s.d.4,e.d.82; see Pop.Sch.p.6,ln.47] 

 

Andrews, S. A. (Della): Idiots Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co., not self-supporting, afflicted at age 2, 

epilepsy; small head, never in an institution. 

[s.d.4,e.d.,e.d.82; see Pop.Sch.p.12,ln.30] 

 

Lambert, John A.: Idiots Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co., not self-supporting, afflicted at age 4, 

epilepsy; natural head, never in an institution. 

[s.d.4,e.d.82; see Pop.Sch.p.18,ln.13] 

 

Moore, Clay: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co. [s.d.4,e.d.82; see Pop.Sch.p.17,ln.30]  

 

Totty, E.A.: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Hickman Co. 

[s.d.4,e.d.82; see Pop.Sch.p.2,ln.2] 

 

Martin, G. W.: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co. [s.d.4,e.d.82; see Pop.Sch.p.4,ln.1] 

 

Lavender, B. Frank: 
Idiots Schedule, 

enumerated Hickman Co. 

[s.d.4,e.d.82; see 

Pop.Sch.p.18,ln.1] 

 

Russell, F. B.: Blind 

Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co. [s.d.4,e.d.82; 

see Pop.Sch.p.13,ln.46] 

Pop.Sch.: age 58, white, 

male, head of household. 

 

Powers, John: Prisoners 

Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co. jail. 

[s.d.4,e.d.82; see Pop.Sch.p.6,ln.30] Pop.Sch.: age 16, 

white, male, prisoner, confined in county jail. 

 

Berry, Jeff. Davis: Prisoners Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co. jail. Also: Idiots Schedule. Also: Deaf-

Mutes Schedule. [s.d.4,e.d.82; see Pop.Sch.p.6,ln.31] 

Pop.Sch.: age 16, white, male, prisoner, in county jail. 

 

Moreau, Columbus: Pauper and Indigent Schedule, 

enumerated Hickman Co. Insane Schedule: Moreau, C. 

C.; hereditary; duration of present attack: 4 months; 

total number of attacks: 7; age at first attack: 20. 

[s.d.4,e.d.81; see Pop.Sch.p.17,ln.42] Pop.Sch.: age 41, 

white, male, brother, in household of Mrs. Isabelle 

Wiss. 

 

Wright, Samuel: Insane Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; hereditary; duration of present attack: 6 

months, total number of attacks: 100 [sic], age at first 

attack: 38. [s.d.4,e.d.81; see Pop.Sch.p.34,ln.1] 

Pop.Sch.: age 50, black, male. 

 

Bass, Boon: Insane Schedule, enumerated Hickman 

Co.; hereditary, duration of present attack: 6 years; age 

at 1
st
 attack: 20. [s.d.4,e.d.81; see Pop.Sch.p.34,ln.2] 

Pop.Sch.: age 26, white, male. 

 

Alexander, Gray: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at birth. 

[s.d.4,e.d.81; see Pop.Sch.p.20,ln.26] 

 

Huddleston, David: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Hickman Co.; self-supporting; cause: sickness. 

[s.d.4,e.d.81; see Pop.Sch.p.18,ln.36]. 

 

Tennessee Hospital for the Insane 
from AsylumProjects.org 
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Houston County 
 

 

Lewis, Wm. S.: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Houston 

Co., not self-supporting, afflicted at birth; small head. 

[s.d.4,e.d.94; see Pop.Sch.p.4,ln.13] 

 

Walker, John T.: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Houston 

Co., not self-supporting, afflicted at birth; large head. 

[s.d.4,e.d.94; see Pop.Sch.p.13,ln.47] 

 

Fentress, J. J.: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Houston 

Co., self-supporting, afflicted at birth; very large head. 

[s.d.4,e.d.94; see Pop.Sch.p.3,ln.5] 

 

Allen, Wm. R.: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Houston 

Co., not self-supporting, afflicted at birth; natural head. 

[s.d.4,e.d.94; see Pop.Sch.p.15,ln.30] 

 

Breeden, Mary: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Houston Co., self-supporting, afflicted at age 3, typhoid 

fever. [s.d.4,e.d.94; see Pop.Sch.p.16,ln.24] 

 

Brooks, James T.: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Houston Co., not self-supporting, afflicted at birth. 

Also: Pauper and Indigent Schedule; supported at 

county cost; not able-bodied. [s.d.4,e.d.94; see 

Pop.Sch.p.15,ln.27] Pop.Sch.: age 52, white, male, 

brother, in household of Catherine Brooks. 

 

Allen, Maria R.: Blind Schedule, enumerated Houston 

Co.; not self-supporting, afflicted at age 65, cataract, 

totally blind. [s.d.4,e.d.94; see Pop.Sch.p.6,ln.3] 

Pop.Sch.: age 76, white, female, in household of Mary 

E. Skelton. 

 

Lewis, Anthony: Blind Schedule, enumerated Houston 

Co.; not self-supporting, afflicted at age 72; cause: 

“hand lift”; totally blind. Also: Pauper and Indigent 

Schedule; supported at county cost; not able-

bodied.[s.d.4,e.d.94; see Pop.Sch.p.11,ln.41] Pop.Sch.: 

age 72, white, male, brother, in household of Vicy 

Harden. 

 

Averitt, James: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Houston 

Co.; self-supporting, afflicted at birth; natural head; 

never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.93; see 

Pop.Sch.p.4,ln.25] 

 

Hinson, John: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Houston 

Co.; partly self-supporting, afflicted at birth; natural 

head, never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.93; see 

Pop.Sch.p.17,ln.4] 

 

Hinson, Maria: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Houston 

Co.; partly self-supporting, afflicted at birth; natural 

head; never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.93; see 

Pop.Sch.p.17,ln.5] 

 

Hinson, Robert: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Houston 

Co.; partly self-supporting, afflicted at birth; natural 

head; never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.93; see 

Pop.Sch.p.17,ln.6] 

 

Dowdy, Harry: Insane Schedule, enumerated Houston 

Co.; form of disease not known; duration of present 

attack: 8 years; age at 1
st
 attack: 75; not confined, not 

restrained, never an inmate of an asylum. [s.d.4,e.d.92; 

see Pop.Sch.p.31,ln.45] Pop.Sch.: age 76, white, male, 

in household of James Breeden. 

 

Love, J. D.: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Houston Co.; 

not self-supporting, afflicted at birth; natural head; 

never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.92; see 

Pop.Sch.p.24,ln.16] 

 

Buque[?], Amy: Deaf-Mutes Schedule, enumerated 

Houston Co. [s.d.4,e.d.92; see Pop.Sch.p.28,ln.36] 

 

Jordan, Elizabeth: Pauper and Indigent Schedule, 

enumerated Houston Co.; supported at county cost; not 

able-bodied; old age. [s.d.4,e.d.92; see 

Pop.Sch.p.11,ln.17] Pop.Sch.: age 70, white, female, 

pauper, in household of T. L. Richardson. 

 

Keel, J. L: Insane Schedule, enumerated Houston Co.; 

not self-supporting; duration of present attack, 1 year; 

number of attacks, 2; age first attack, 28. [s.d.4,e.d.91; 

see Pop.Sch.p.5,ln.18] Pop.Sch.: age 32, white, male, 

son, in household of  W. T. Keel. 

 

Lankford, Udorah: Idiots Schedule, enumerated 

Houston Co.; partly self-supporting; afflicted at birth; 

normal head. [s.d.4,e.d.91; see Pop.Sch.p.10,ln.1] 

 



____________________________________________________________________________________ 
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Wynne, Thomas:  Idiots Schedule, enumerated 

Houston Co.; not self-supporting, afflicted at birth. 

[s.d.4,e.d.91; see Pop.Sch.p.5,ln.43] 

 

McAulley, C. M.:  Idiots Schedule, enumerated 

Houston Co.; not self-supporting, afflicted at age 1 year, 

epelethesis[?]; natural head. [s.d.4,e.d.91; see 

Pop.Sch.p.17,ln.6] 

 

Fitzer, James: Idiots Schedule, enumerated Houston 

Co.; self-supporting; afflicted at birth; natural head, 

never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.99; see 

Pop.Sch.p.24,ln.43] 

 

Lafayette, Bigham S.: Idiots Schedule, enumerated 

Houston Co.; self-supporting; afflicted at birth; natural 

head, never in an institution. [s.d.4,e.d.99; see 

Pop.Sch.p.18,ln.5]

 

 

 

Tennessee Atrocities from the  
Anti-Slavery Examiner 

(New York: American Anti-Slavery Society, 1839. Volume 10, pp. 380-382.) 
 
Tennessee became one of the United States in 1796. Its present white population is about seven hundred 

thousand. The details which follow, go to confirm the old truth, that the exercise of arbitrary power tends 

to make men monsters…. 

 

The “New Orleans Bee,” Sept. 22, 1838, published the following from the “Nashville (Tennessee) Whig.” 

 

“The Nashville Whig” of the 11
th

 ult., says: Pleasant Watson, of DeKalb county, and a Mr. 

Carmichael, of Alabama, were the principals in an affray at Livingston, Overton county, last 

week, which terminated in the death of the former. Watson made the assault with a dirk, and 

Carmichael defended himself with a pistol, shooting his antagonist through the body, a few 

inches below the heart. Watson was living at the last account. The dispute grew out of a 

horse race.” 

 

The New Orleans Courier, April 7, 1837, has the following extract from the “McMinersville (Tennessee) 

Gazette.” 

 

“On Saturday, the 8
th

 instant, Colonel David L. Mitchell, the worthy sheriff of White 

county, was most barbarously murdered by a man named Joseph Little. He went to Little’s 

house for the purpose of arresting him. He found Little armed with a rifle, pistols &c. He 

commenced a conversation with Little upon the impropriety of his resisting, and stated his 

determination to take him, at the same time slowly advancing upon Little, who discharged 

his rifle at him without effect. Mitchell then attempted to jump in, to take hold of him, 

when Little struck him over the head with the barrel of his rifle, and literally mashed his 

skull to pieces; and, as he lay prostrate on the earth, Little deliberately pulled a large pistol 

from his belt, and placing the muzzle close to Mitchell’s head, he shot the ball through it. 

Little has made his escape. There were three men near by when the murder was committed, 

who made no attempt to arrest the murderer.”  

…█ 

 

-------------
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A Narrow Escape: William Norvell of Nashville 
in the Mexican War 

by John E. Norvell 
 

The Battle of the Alamo is one of the best-known events of the 

war for Texas independence. Its companion event, the so-called 

Goliad Massacre is seldom recalled outside of Texas. Even less 

well-known is the role of the 75 men from Tennessee who 

through a whim of fate were spared their lives, out of the 300 or 

so men slaughtered at Goliad by the Mexicans on Palm Sunday, 

March 27, 1836.
1
  

 

In the spring of 1836, as tensions grew in Texas, William 

Parsons Miller (ca. 1802-1862) arrived in Nashville to recruit 

volunteers for an American company to fight for Texas 

Independence. 
2
 Forming a company of 75 men, the group left 

Nashville en route to Texas debarking from New Orleans.  

 

Among this company was William Lawrence Norvell (ca. 1813-

1891), the grandson of Lt. Lipscomb Norvell, a Revolutionary 

War veteran buried in the City Cemetery in Nashville. Young 

William had been raised by his uncle Lipscomb Norvell, Jr., 

almost from his birth. His mother Catherine Crist Norvell had died in 1814 shortly after his birth and his father 

Joshua Norvell, a frontier politician, left William in his uncle’s care as he moved first to serve as a political editor 

in St. Louis, then as federal attorney for Arkansas, finally as United States Consul to St. Bart’s.
3
 When Joshua died 

en route to St. Barts in 1821, young William remained with his uncle in Trigg County, Kentucky. 
4
 By 1835, 

Lipscomb Norvell, Jr., had moved to Texas in the first wave of immigrants invited to settle the land there by the 

Mexican government. 
5
 This is where the story continues.  

                                                 
 

 John E. Norvell is a retired Air Force Lt Colonel, decorated air combat veteran of the Vietnam War, and former Asst Professor of History 

at the U.S. Air Force Academy. He is also the first cousin three-times removed of William Lawrence Norvell and the great-great-great 

grandson Lt. Lipscomb Norvell, who is buried in the City Cemetery in Nashville, Tennessee. He can be reached by email at 

jenorv66@aol.com 
 
1
 Harbert Davenport and Craig H. Roell, "Goliad Massacre," Handbook of Texas Online, The Texas State Historical Association 

(http://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/online/articles/qeg02).  
2
Craig H. Roell, "William Parsons Miller," Handbook of Texas Online, The Texas State Historical Association 

(http://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/online/articles/fmi30).  
3
 Catherine Crist Norvell obituary, The Frankfort Argus, February 12, 1814; for more information on the backgrounds of Lipscomb Norvell, Jr 

and his brother, Joshua Norvell, see “How Tennessee Adventurer William Walker became Dictator of Nicaragua in 1857:  The Norvell family 
origins of The Grey-Eyed Man of Destiny,” by John E. Norvell, The  Middle Tennessee Journal of Genealogy & History, Volume XXV, Number 
4, Spring 2012, 149-155. 
4
  John E. Norvell,  Lt Lipscomb Norvell of the Virginia Line, (private printing, Canandaigua, New York, 2012) 50-53. 

5
 Aragorn Storm Miller, "Lipscomb Norvell,Jr.," Handbook of Texas Online, The Texas State Historical Association 

(http://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/online/articles/fno36). Lipscomb Norvell, Jr.s original Mexican Land grant documents are on line at 
Texas Land Grants Office, Texas General Land Office 
Land Grant Search: ( http://scandocs.glo.texas.gov/webfiles/landgrants/pdfs/1/0/3/1/1031606.pdf). 

Broadside recruiting soldiers in the fight for Texas 
independence were carefully worded, as the U.S. was 

not at war with Texas. They claim to seek 
“emigrants,” not soldiers. Bounty land was the 

enticement. http://starmuseum.org 

_L__ ________________ _ 

http://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/online/articles/qeg02
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In an 1874 affidavit, applying for a pension for his service to Texas,
6
 William wrote: 

 

I was enrolled in a company for service in Texas, 20
th
 February, 1836, at Nashville, Tennessee, 

under William P. Miller, who signed the law bills he had issued as “Major, 1
st
 Regiment Texas 

Cavalry.” 
7
 We went to New Orleans and embarked in a little 

schooner for Texas. At Texas, the whole company 3
rd

 March, 

1836, enlisted taking an oath for three years or during the 

war. On the 19
th
 of March, we crossed the bar at Live Oak 

Point and arrived that afternoon opposite a little old shanty, 

which the mate of the schooner, a dry old fellow, said was the 

city of Capano. Miller and another man went ashore, taking 

the road for Refugio,
8
 arrived there some time in the night, 

when they were instantly made prisoners by the Mexicans. 

We landed from the schooner on the 19
th
 and were captured 

the afternoon of the 20
th
by a force from Refugio.  

 

We were taken to Refugio that night, where we remained the 

next day, and the following day we march for Goliad (or La 

Bahia) where we arrived at 2:30. On the road we passed a 

pile of corpses, the remains of Capt King’s command, whom 

the Mexicans had assassinated a day or two previous. At 

Goliad, we found Fannin’s command, all [were] prisoners of 

war, and that afternoon, Ward’s battalion of Georgians were 

also brought in. On Sunday following, (the 27
th
) early in the 

morning, these men, to the number of near 400, were divided 

into three parties, were led out of the fort in many different 

directions and shot to death. Their murderers then heaped wood over their bodies and burned 

them.
9
 

 

                                                 
6
  Minimal corrections have been made to the grammar and spelling in the pension application as written by Lawrence William Norvell, 

footnotes have been added to clarify a name or place mentioned. 
7
 Texas State Library and Archives Commission, Republic Claims, Application for pension:  Name: Norvell,  William Lawrence Claim #: N/A 

Type: PE Reel #: 231 First: 543 Last: 563, (https://www.tsl.state.tx.us/apps/arc/repclaims/viewdetails.php?id=76642&set=1#viewSet).  
8
 Refugio, the county seat of Refugio County, is on the north bank of the Mission River. On March 14, 1836, during the Texas Revolution, 

the battle of Refugio was fought at the town; most of the inhabitants subsequently fled to Victoria, Goliad, and other areas to avoid 
retribution. Craig H. Roell, "Battle of Refugio," Handbook of Texas Online, The Texas State Historical Association 
(http://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/online/articles/qer01). 
9
 General Santa Anna, the Mexican leader, sent General José Urrea marching into Texas to meet the Texian (Texan Americans) army threat. 

On March 19, he quickly advanced and surrounded the 300 Texas men near La Bahia (Goliad). On March 22, the Texians surrendered and 
Urrea took them back to Goliad, where they were held as prisoners at Fort Defiance (Presidio La Bahia). The Texians thought they would 
likely be set free in a few weeks. General Urrea wrote Santa Anna to ask for clemency for the Texans. Santa Anna responded that Urrea was 
to execute the prisoners. On Palm Sunday, March 27, 1836, 303 Texans were marched out of Fort Defiance into three columns on the Bexar 
Road, San Patricio Road, and the Victoria Road, between two rows of Mexican soldiers; they were shot point-blank, and survivors were 
clubbed and knifed to death. Due to the intervention of the "Angel of Goliad", (Francita Alavez), twenty men (doctors, interpreters, or 
workers) and the 75 soldiers of William Parsons Miller and the Nashville Battalion, were spared. Harbert Davenport and Craig H. Roell, 
"Goliad Massacre," Handbook of Texas Online, The Texas State Historical Association 
(http://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/online/articles/qeg02). 

Francita Alavez, the “Angel of Goliad” saved 
the lives of the Nashville Battallion, 

including Norvell. 

http://www.google.com/imgres?q=francita+alavez&hl=en&safe=off&sa=X&rls=com.microsoft:en-us:IE-SearchBox&biw=1366&bih=589&tbm=isch&prmd=imvnsbo&tbnid=9a0Dkr3xjx_F0M:&imgrefurl=http://www.flickr.com/photos/83379080@N00/7030080341/&docid=m9gsPwejd5zG2M&itg=1&imgurl=http://farm8.staticflickr.com/7258/7030080341_5385dca5c8_z.jpg&w=480&h=640&ei=uDzdT5OJF46E8ATomZG7Cg&zoom=1&iact=hc&vpx=618&vpy=211&dur=3588&hovh=259&hovw=194&tx=121&ty=143&sig=111925084733891275868&page=1&tbnh=118&tbnw=98&start=0&ndsp=28&ved=1t:429,r:13,s:0,i:112
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An order arrived a few days after to shoot 

the rest of us, but for some reason it was 

countermanded that night. The fact is that we 

were saved through the kind intervention of 

a charming young Mexican lady, Dona 

Pachito Alaresque of Durango, the wife of 

the colonel, to whom also Drs. Schackleford, 

Bernard, Field, and their four attendants, 

where wholly indebted for their lives.  

 

Urrea’s march from San Pachito to 

Guadalupe to Victoria was marked by many 

horrors, shocking to humanity. Mirabeau B. 

Lamar 
10

 once in a public speech styled him 

as “the noble Urrea, shedding tears over the 

murdered Fannin.”
11

  But he was a damned 

scoundrel who proved treacherously false to Fannin; and I perhaps the sole surviving witness to the 

awful tragedy of Goliad, could tell the world the story of Urrea’s bloody episode in Texan history, 

and that my life is so hampered with toil to meet the exigencies of every day, that I have no time 

for the preparative requisites to do justice to the subject. 

 

In the June following, we were all released, and I joined the Texan Army at Victoria. The company I joined was 

commanded by Lt. Nicholas Dodson, Rowan the captain being absent. In August, we were ordered to Brazos to 

take charge of the prisoner Santa Anna.... After the release of Santa Anna, the company was disbanded and I joined 

the company commanded by Capt McClure, 1
st
 Regiment, Permanent Volunteers. This was at Hatch’s on the 

Lavaca River. With this company, I served until this company was disbanded in June, 1837. In 1838, I was 

regularly discharged at the land office in Houston. My discharge was filed in the land office in Houston[.] Ward 

[was] the commissioner at Houston, when I took out my head right of one-tenth of a league of land. 

 

William remained in Texas for a brief period, but by 1850 had moved to New York City, where he became a printer 

and journalist, the professions favored by many of his uncles. He lived in New York the remainder of his life, but 

he never forgot the terrible Goliad Massacre and how the men of Tennessee had been saved. 
12

                 █ 

 

For more information about the Norvell family of Nashville, 

visit the Nashville City Cemetery web site: 

www.thenashvillecitycemetery.org 

                                                 
10

 Mirabeau Buonaparte Lamar ( born Georgia in 1798 - died 1859). In 1834, Lamar decided to visit Texas, where his friend James Fannin 
had recently moved. Lamar fell in love with Texas and decided that he too would make it his home. Like Fannin, he became a passionate 
revolutionary. Lamar went home to Georgia to settle his affairs for the move, only to learn of the massacres at the Alamo and at Goliad, 
where Fannin and other Texas men had been taken prisoner and executed by orders of General Santa Anna. After the Texan victory, Lamar 
was made secretary of war in the cabinet of President David G. Burnet, and in the fall of 1836 was elected vice-president of the Republic of 
Texas. Herbert Gambrell, "Mirabeau Buonaparte Lamar," Handbook of Texas Online, The Texas State Historical Association 
(http://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/online/articles/fla15).  
11

 James Walker Fannin was a leader during the Texas revolution of 1835-36, best known for being executed, along with all his troops in the 
Mexican War. Clinton P. Hartmann, "James Walker Fannin, Jr.," Handbook of Texas Online, The Texas State Historical Association 
(http://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/online/articles/ffa02).  
12

 John E. Norvell,  Lt Lipscomb Norvell of the Virginia Line, (private printing, Canandaigua, New York, 2012) 50-53. 

Depiction of the massacre at Goliad 

http://frogstorm.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/03/The-Goliad-Massacre.jpg
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World War I draft registrations  
in Coffee County: African-Americans (part 3) 

by Debbie McConnel 
 

For the full introduction to this topic, please see Part 1 in the Winter 2012 issue. 

 

The following information was obtained from a study of 

the draft registration cards of African American men 

who registered for the draft in Coffee County, along 

with World War I records housed at the Tennessee State 

Library and Archives in Record Group 36. In total there 

were 238 black registrants. On June 5
th
 1917 men aged 

21 to 31 were required to register, and approximately 

100 Coffee County African Americans did so at that 

time. On September 9
th
 of 1918, men aged 18 to 21 and 

31 to 45 were required to register. Approximately 113 

African Americans registered in Coffee County under 

that draft. It is interesting that one man who was 47 

registered. The majority of African Americans who 

registered were from Tullahoma. The Federal 

Government instructed the draft officers to cut a corner 

off of each black man’s card so that they could easily be 

identified. Coffee County officials did not always 

comply. Many of the cards, as posted digitally on the 

Ancestry.com web site, are very difficult to read.  

 

By providing this background information about African-American soldiers in World War I, and publishing the 

following details about the men from Coffee County,  I hope to aid genealogists and historians in learning more 

about African-Americans who were involved in World War I. 

 

 

Database Key 

Birthdays Always in 1800’s except 00 which is 1900 

Occupation RR is always North Carolina to St. Louis RR unless otherwise stated 
Marriage M is Married, any number is the number of children, not all cards ask 

Description Height, Size, Eyes, Hair in that order 
Height Sh=Short; M=Medium; T=Tall 

Size St=Stout; M=Medium; Sl=Slim 
Eyes Bl=Blue; Lt=Lite; Gr=Green; Dk=Dark, Br=Brown; Bk=Black; Gr=Gray 
Hair Lt=Lite; Dk=Dark; Br=Brown; Bk=Black; R=Red 

Military Ind=Inducted (Drafted), OS=Served Overseas 
 

 

Unidentified African-American soldiers in World War I, with 
their white commanding officer at right. 

-
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Patton, Johnson. Age 37, born 3/10/1881. Next of kin: 

M. Patton. Residence: Beech Grove. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: J. W. Arbley/Farming. Registered on 

9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Patton, Rice. Age 24, born 11/2/1893. Residence: 

Hillsboro. Race: Black. Employer/job: Polk 

Tate/Farming. Family info: married, 2 children. 

Physical description: (height medium, size medium, 

eyes brown, hair black). Registered on 6/5/1917. Not 

inducted.  

 

Patton, Roy. Age 24, born 4/15/1893. Residence: 

Hillsboro. Race: Black. Employer/job: B. M. 

Tate/Farming. Family info: married, 1 child. Physical 

description: (height medium, size medium, eyes dark 

brown, hair black). Registered on 6/5/1917. Not 

inducted.  

 

Patton, Rufus. Born 1/8/1888. Residence: Hillsboro. 

Race: Black. Employer/job: Polk Tate/Farming. Family 

info: married, 1 child. Physical description: (height 

medium, size medium, eyes black, hair black). 

Registered on 6/5/1917. Not inducted.  

 

Peppers, Raleigh. Age 24, born 1/10/1893. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Ethiopian. Employer/job: North 

Carolina & St. Louis Railroad/Station Hand. Physical 

description: (height medium, size medium, eyes brown, 

hair black). Registered on 6/5/1917. Inducted. Rank: 

Private. Unit: Co A, 521 Engineers, Co A 523 

Engineers to 17
th
 Engineer Service Company.  

 

Phillips, D. Age 29, born 11/22/1887. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Ethiopian. Employer/job: W. J. 

Davidson/Laborer. Family info: married, 1 child. 

Physical description: (height medium, size medium, 

eyes brown, hair black). Registered on 6/5/1917. 

Registered for draft then enlisted in the National Army, 

Served overseas. Rank: Waggoner. Unit: 824 Co TC. 

Notes: born Murfreesboro, Tenn. 

 

Powers, Lonie. Age 21, born 8/22/1897. Next of kin: 

Charlie Powers. Residence: Manchester. Race: Black. 

Employer: M.A. Butler. Physical description: (eyes 

brown, hair black). Registered on 8/24/1918. Inducted.  

Rank: Private. Unit: 6 Rct Co, Camp 5, Camp Green, 

North Carolina. Notes: born in Noah, Tennesse. 

 

Powers, Mose. Age 33, born 10//1885. Next of kin: 

Sister: ? Frashier. Residence: Manchester. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: John Hitter/Farming. Physical 

description: (height medium, size medium, eyes brown, 

hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Price, Col Frank. Next of kin: Wife, Jessie Price. 

Residence: Beech Grove. Race: Black. Employer/job: 

Farmer. Family info: married. Physical description: 

(height medium, size medium, eyes black, hair black). 

Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Price, H. Age 36, born 2/7/1882. Next of kin: Jessie 

Price. Residence: Summitville. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: Tennessee Cement & Lime 

Co./Laborer. Physical description: (height medium, 

size medium, eyes black, hair black). Registered on 

9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Price, Tom. Age 30, born 1887. Residence: 

Manchester. Race: Black. Employer/job: Self/Farmer. 

Family info: single. Physical description: (height 

medium, size medium, eyes brown, hair black). 

Registered on 6/5/1917. Inducted. Rank: Private. Unit: 

Draft Training Det Fisk University, Nashville and S A 

T C, Atlanta University.  

 

Rains, William Henry. Age 38, born 10/26/1880. Next 

of kin: Mother, Martha Rains. Residence: Manchester. 

Race: Black. Employer/job: W. P. Hickerson/Farm 

Laborer. Physical description: (height medium, size 

medium, eyes black, hair black). Registered on 

9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Ramsey, Charlie. Age 21, born 9/15/1897. Next of kin: 

George Ramsey. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Physical description: (eyes brown, hair black). 

Registered on 6/5/1918. Inducted. Rank: Private. Unit: 

158 Depot Brigade to Co F, 6
th
 Pioneer Infantry.  

 

Ramsey, Ellis. Age 19, born 7/1899. Next of kin: Mary 

J. Ramsey. Residence: Manchester. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: Pressing clothes. Physical description: 

(height medium, size medium, eyes black, hair black). 

Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Ramsey, Frank. Age 26, born 7/25/1890. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Black. Employer/job: Laborer. 

Family info: married. Physical description: (height 
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medium, size medium, eyes black, hair black). 

Registered on 6/5/1917. Not inducted.  

 

Ramsey, Hashel. Age 21, born 4/2/1896. 

Residence: Hillsboro. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: G. M. Marlow/Laborer. 

Family info: single. Physical description: 

(size stout, eyes brown, hair black). 

Registered on 7/5/1917. Not inducted.  

 

Ramsey, Houston. Age 21, born 

5/25/1896. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: 

Black. Employer/job: Tenn/Inmate of 

Penitentiary. Family info: single. Physical 

description: (height 5’4”, size medium, 

eyes brown, hair black). Registered on 

6/5/1917. Not inducted. Notes: Feeble 

Mind. 

 

Ramsey, Hugh. Age 18, born 10/27/1899. Next of kin: 

George Ramsey. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: B. B. Smith/House Boy. Physical 

description: (height short, size medium, eyes brown, 

hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted. 

Notes: Mentally Defective. 

 

Ramsey, Jeff. Age 40, born 1878. Next of kin: Alice 

Ramsey. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: Ernest Houme/House Boy. Physical 

description: (height medium, size medium). Registered 

on 9/12/1918. Not inducted. Notes: Mentally Deficient. 

 

Ramsey, Jesse. Age 21, born 6/15/1897. Next of kin: 

Sister, Mary Jane Ramsey. Residence: Manchester. 

Race: Black. Employer/job: Du Pont, Jacksonville, 

Tenn./Mason. Physical description: (eyes dark, hair 

dark). Registered on 8/24/1918. Inducted. Rank: 

Private. Unit: 51 Depot Brigade.  

 

Ramsey, Mack, Age 24, born 1/?/1893. Residence: 

Manchester. Race: Black. Employer/job: Manchester 

Hotel/Waiter. Family info: single. Physical description: 

(height tall, size stout, eyes brown, hair black). 

Registered on 6/5/1917. Inducted. Rank: Private 1 

class. Unit: Co B 521 Service Battalion Engineer to 

Reserve Labor Battalion 446 Quarter Master.  

 

Reese, Hence. Age 34, born 10/5/7? Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Black. Employer/job: Self/Laborer. 

Physical description: (height medium, size slim, eyes 

brown, hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not 

inducted.  

 

Reese, Joel. Age 23, born 

8/28/1893. Residence: Tullahoma. 

Race: Ethiopian. Employer/job: 

Coca Cola Bottling Works/Butler. 

Family info: married (but 

separated). Physical description: 

(height medium, size medium, 

eyes black, hair black). Registered 

on 6/5/1917. Not inducted. Notes: 

Ruptures. 

 

Rice, Andrew. Age 23, born 

12/24/1894. Residence: 

Manchester. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: North Carolina & 

St. Louis Railroad/Laborer. Family info: married, 1 

child but not living with wife. Physical description: 

(height short, size medium, eyes brown, hair black). 

Registered on 6/5/1917. Inducted. Rank: Private. Unit: 

Det San C  

 

Rice, Henry. Age 21, born 2/5/1897. Next of kin: Will 

Rice of Birmingham, AL. Residence: Tullahoma. 

Race: Black. Physical description: (height medium, 

size stout, eyes black, hair black). Registered on 

6/5/1918. Inducted. Rank: Private. Unit: 51
st
 Depot 

Brigade. Notes: born in Warren Co., Tenn. 

 

Rober, Chuck. Born 7/25/1886. Next of kin: Perry 

Rober. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. In Jail. 

Physical description: (height short, size stout, eyes 

black, hair black). Registered on 6/5/1917. Not 

inducted. Notes: born in Shelbyville, Tenn. 

 

Robinson, Henry. Age 24, born 4/1895. Residence: 

Beech Grove. Race: Black. Employer/job: Farming. 

Physical description: (height short, size stout, eyes 

black, hair black). Registered on 6/5/1917.  Inducted. 

Rank: Private. Unit: 521 Service Battalion , 542 

Service Battalion, 2 Development Battalion, Camp 

Humphries, Virginia.  

 

Robison, Robert. Age. 25, born 3/30/1892. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Ethiopian. Employer/job: W. T. 

Boughten Barber Shop/Porter. Family info: married, 1 

child. Physical description: (size stout, eyes black, hair 

black). Registered on 6/5/1917. Not inducted. Notes: 

born in Fayettville, Tenn. 

Attention! 
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Rutledge, Frank. Age 40, born 1877.  Race: Black. 

Employer/job: C. C. Henley/Farming. Physical 

description: (height medium, size medium, eyes black, 

hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Ryall, William. Age 18, born 7/1900. Next of kin: 

Noah Ryall. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: George Floyd/Porter. Physical 

description: (height short, size medium, eyes black, 

hair black). Registered on 9/19/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Ryalls, Amos T. Age 28, born 11/13/1888. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Ethiopian. Employer/job: Henry ? 

King Co./Stockman. Family info: married, 4 children.  

Physical description: (height medium, size medium, 

eyes black, hair black). Registered on 6/5/1917. Not 

inducted. Notes: born in Moore Co., Tenn. 

 

Saflen, Lester Earl. Age 22, born 8/9/1894. Residence: 

Summitville. Race: Black. Employer/job: Not 

Employed. Physical description: (height medium, size 

medium, eyes black, hair black). Registered on 

6/5/1917. Not inducted. Notes: born in Altamont, 

Tenn. 

 

Scott, Jerry S. Age 26, born 3/19/1891. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Ethiopian. Employer/job: M.R. 

Campbel/Servant. Family info: married. Physical 

description: (height medium, size medium, eyes dark, 

hair dark). Registered on 6/5/1917. Inducted. Rank: 

Corporal. Unit: 154 Depot Brigade. Notes: born 

inWartrace, Tenn. 

 

Scott, Jessee Coleman. Age 24, born 4/19/1893. 

Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Ethiopian. Employer/job: 

Will Hunt/Restaurant Keeper. Physical description: 

(height medium, size medium, eyes dark, hair dark). 

Registered on 6/5/1917. Not inducted. Notes: born in 

Wartrace, Tenn. 1 eye almost out. 

 

Scott, Samuel. Age 18, born 7/5/1900. Next of kin: 

Walter Scott. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: MR Campbell/Laborer. Physical 

description: (height medium, size slim, eyes black, hair 

black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Scruggs, Marsh William. Age 41, born 11/26/1877. 

Next of kin: Theodra Scruggs. Residence: Manchester. 

Race: Black. Physical description: (height medium, 

eyes black, hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not 

inducted.  

 

Sebastion, John W. Next of kin: Reggie Sebastion. 

Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. Employer/job: M. 

E. Church/ Pastor. Physical description: (height tall, 

size slim, eyes black, hair black) Registered on 

9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Settle, Charlie. Age, born 1873. Next of kin: Kettie 

Settle. Residence: Summitville. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: Laborer. Physical description: (height 

tall, size slim, eyes black, hair black). Registered on 

9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Shaw, William Roy. Age 18, born 11/25/1899. Next of 

kin: Mrs. Jessie Mae Shaw. Residence: Manchester. 

Race: Black. Employer/job: Booth Fish Co., 8
th
 Ave. 

N, Nashville/ Clerk. Physical description: (height 

medium, size medium, eyes brown, hair black). 

Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Shelton, Oscar. Age 37, born 7/81. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Black. Employer/job: W. J. Couch 

and P. O./Driver. Physical description: (height tall, size 

slim). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Simmons, Gideon. Age 20, born 3/8/1898. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Black. Employer/job: M. R. 

Campbell/Laborer. Family info: married. Physical 

description: (height tall, size slim, eyes brown, hair 

black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Smartt, Andrew Jackson. Age 27, born 1881. 

Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. Employer/job: 

Self. Physical description: (height tall, size medium, 

eyes brown, hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not 

inducted.  

 

Smartt, George Brown. Age 36, born 9/12/1882. 

Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. Employer/job: 

Servant. Physical description: (height medium, size 

slim, eyes brown, hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. 

Not inducted. Notes: 2 fingers off left hand. 

 

Smartt, John. Age 34, born 3/3/1879. Next of kin: 

Ophelia Smartt. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: North Carolina & St. Louis 

Railroad/Farming. Registered on 9/12/1918. Not 

inducted.  

 



 

 

 
Middle Tennessee Journal of Genealogy & History                                                                                                 Volume XXVI, Number 1 

Page 44 

Smartt, Zarrie. Age, born 10/22/1876. 

Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: North Carolina & St. 

Louis Railroad/__ hand. Physical 

description: (size medium, eyes brown, 

hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. 

Not inducted.  

 

Smith, Walter. Age 32, born 

11/2/1885. Next of kin: Wife, Mary 

Smith. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: 

Black. Employer/job: Wagon Stock 

Co./Teamster. Physical description: 

(height tall, size stout, eyes black, hair 

black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not 

inducted.  

 

Smotherman, Paul. Age 42, born 1875. 

Next of kin: Annie Smotherman. 

Residence: Beech Grove. Race: Black. Employer/job: 

Farmer. Physical description: (height medium, size 

stout, eyes black, hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. 

Not inducted.  

 

Stalples, Aaron. Age 43, born 7/1895. Next of kin: 

Della Stalples. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: Jas. Boyd/Farmer. Physical description: 

(height medium, size medium, eyes black, hair black). 

Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Starnes, E. W. Age 21, born 3/1/1897. Next of kin: 

Wife, Elva Starnes. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: 

Black. Employer/job: George Wilson. Family info: 

married. Physical description: (eyes black, hair black). 

Registered on 6/5/1918. Inducted. Rank: Private. Unit: 

Ret Camp Green, NC.  

 

Stevens, Doyle. Age 19, born 5/10/1899. Next of kin: 

Gideon Stevens. Residence: Summitville. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: North Carolina & St. Louis 

Railroad/Laborer. Physical description: (height 

medium, size medium, eyes black, hair black). 

Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Stewart, Louis. Age 36, born 1883. Next of kin: Pearlle 

Stewart. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: S. S. Blackman/Carpenter. Physical 

description: (height medium, size medium, eyes black, 

hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Stone, John Henry. Age 34, born 

1884. Next of kin: Tammy Lou 

Buchanan. Residence: Tullahoma. 

Race: Black. Physical description: 

(height tall, size medium, eyes 

brown, hair black). Registered on 

9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Sutton, Matthew. Age 40, born 

1878. Next of kin: Peter Sutton. 

Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: North Carolina & St. 

Louis Railroad. Physical 

description: (height medium, size 

stout, eyes black, hair black). 

Registered on 9/12/1918. Not 

inducted.  

 

Taylor, Hillman. Age 37, born 

7/5/1881. Next of kin: Betty Taylor. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Black. Employer/job: North Carolina 

& St. Louis Railroad/Section hand. Physical 

description: (height medium, size medium, eyes black, 

hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Taylor, Horace. Born 11/20/1879. Next of kin: Mother, 

Bettie Taylor. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: Reuben McArthur/Farming. Physical 

description: (height tall, size slim, eyes black, hair 

black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Taylor, John. Age 27, born 1890. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Black. Employer/job: Tennessee 

Penitentiary/Seals cars on Railroad. Family info: 

married, 1 child. Physical description: (height medium, 

size medium, eyes brown, hair black). Registered on 

6/5/1917. Inducted. Rank: Private. Unit: 158 Depot 

Brigade. Notes: I can’t read this but it says something 

like: if not citizen ______, 

 

Taylor, Virgil M. Age 21, born 7/15/1897. Next of kin: 

Napolean Taylor. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: Napolean Taylor. Physical description: 

(eyes dark brown, hair black). Registered on 

8/24/1918. Inducted. Rank: Not Listed. Unit: Ret 

Camp Green, North Carolina.  

 

Thomas, Clyde. Age 23, born 3/23/? Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Ethiopian. Employer/job: ?/Brick 

Mason. Family info: married, 2 children. Physical 

description: (height medium, size medium, eyes black, 
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hair black). Registered on 6/5/1917. Not inducted. 

Notes: born in Bedford Co., Tenn. 

 

Thomas, John L. Age 18, born 4/17/1900. Next of kin: 

Mother, Stella Thomas. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: 

Black. Employer/job: ? Davidson/House Man. Physical 

description: (height short, size medium, eyes brown, 

hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Thomas, Oscar. Age 29, born 5/2/1888. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Ethiopian. Employer/job: Fitzgerald 

& Clark School in Tullahoma/Cook. Family info: 

married, 2 children. Physical description: (height 

medium, size medium, eyes dark, hair dark). 

Registered on 6/5/1917. Not inducted. Notes: born in 

Manchester, Tenn., ½ of one foot. 

 

Tipps, Ed. Born 2/15/1892. Residence: Tullahoma. 

Race: Ethiopian. Employer/job: Chattanooga Coal & 

Iron/ Common Laborer. Family info: married, 1 child. 

Physical description: (height medium, size medium, 

eyes brown, hair black). Registered on 6/9/1917 in 

Sequetchie. Inducted. Served overseas. Rank: Private. 

Unit: Co B 521 Service Battalion Engineers, 18 

Engineers Service Company Forestry. Notes: Dropsy. 

 

Trigg, George. Age about 29. Residence: Tullahoma. 

Race: Ethiopian. Employer/job: North Carolina & St. 

Louis Railroad/Floating Gang. Family info: single. 

Physical description: (height medium, size medium, 

eyes dark, hair dark). Registered on 6/5/1917. 

Inducted. Rank: Private. Unit: 155 Depot Brigade to 

Co A, 432 Res Lab Bn.  

 

Tubbs, Elder. Age 21, born 9/12/1895. Residence: 

Manchester. Race: Black. Employer/job: No one 

now/Farm hand. Family info: single. Physical 

description: (height tall, size medium, eyes dark 

brown, hair black). Registered on 6/5/1917. Inducted. 

Served overseas. Rank: Corporal. Unit: QMC. Notes: 

born in McMinnville, Tenn. 

 

Tubbs, Everest. Age 21, born 1/2/1897. Next of kin: 

Ruby Tubbs. Residence: Manchester. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: DuPont Eng. Co., Nashville. Physical 

description: (eyes black, hair black). Registered on 

6/5/1918. Inducted. No rank or unit given.  

 

Turk, Gustav. Age 18, born 3/10/1900. Next of kin: 

Mattie Turk. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: J. H. Rutledge/Laborer. Physical 

description: (height medium, size medium, eyes black, 

hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Turner, Edd. Age 18, born 7/3/1900. Next of kin: 

Mother, Sopha Turner. Residence: Hillsboro. Race: 

Black. Employer/job: Walter Corn/Farming. Physical 

description: (height medium, size medium, eyes black, 

hair dark). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Vanoy, Eldy Lewis. Age 28, born 12/18/1889. 

Residence: Manchester. Race: Black. Employer/job: 

Jeff Bowers in Wartrace, Tenn./Tailor. Family info: 

married. Physical description: (height medium, size 

medium, eyes dark brown, hair black. Registered on 

6/5/1917. Not inducted.  

 

Vaughan, William. Age 36, born 9/8/1882. Next of 

kin: Wife: Madgee Vaughan. Residence: Tullahoma. 

Race: Black. Employer/job: Vocational School/Farmer. 

Family info: married. Physical description: (height 

medium, size stout, eyes brown, hair black). Registered 

on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Wakefield, George. Age 21, born 8/4/1896. Next of 

kin: Mother, Lou Wakefield. Residence: Tullahoma. 

Race: Black. Employer: Mrs. W. T. Paty. Physical 

description: (eyes black, hair black). Registered on 

6/5/1918. Inducted. Rank: Private. Unit: Rct Camp 

Green, North Carolina, Cas Det Camp Greenleaf, 

Georgia.  

 

Walker, Arcie. Age 24, born 2/13/1893. Residence: 

Manchester. Race: Black. Employer/job: Manchester 

Mfg. Co./Laborer. Family info: married, 1 child. 

Physical description: (height medium, size medium, 

eyes dark brown, hair black). Registered on 6/5/1917. 

Not inducted. Notes: born in McMinnville, Tenn. 

 

Watkins, J. C. Age 19, born 8/4/1899. Residence: 

Hillsboro. Race: Black. Employer/job: Bernice 

Tate/Farmer. Physical description: (height medium, 

size medium). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted. 

Notes: Asks for exemption but I can’t read it. 

 

Webb, John Henry. Age 18, born 1/10/1900. Next of 

kin: Frances Webb. Residence: Manchester. Race: 

Black. Employer/job: North Carolina & St. Louis 

Railroad/Laborer. Physical description: (height 

medium, size medium, eyes brown, hair black). 

Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  
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Webb, Lewis. Age 21, born 1/4/1898. Residence: 

Manchester. Race: Black. Employer/job: Will 

Hickerson/Farming. Family info: single. Physical 

description: (height medium, size medium, eyes brown, 

hair black). Registered on 6/5/1917. Inducted. Served 

overseas. Rank: Private. Unit: 158 Depot Brigade to 

Co I, 802 Pioneer Infantry.  

 

Whitaker, Earl. Age 27, born 5/18/1890. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Ethiopian. Employer/job: North 

Carolina & St. Louis Railroad/Janitor railroad office. 

Physical description: (height medium, size medium, 

eyes black, hair black). Registered on 6/5/1917. 

Inducted. Rank: Private. Unit: Co K, 804 Pioneer 

Infantry. Notes: He claimed to support 2 children, 

registrar wrote “does not support anyone.” 

 

White, Charlie. Age 45, born “don’t know.” Next of 

kin: Minnie White. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: 

Black. Employer/job: L. B. Thomson/Farm hand. 

Physical description: (height medium, size medium, 

eyes black, hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not 

inducted.  

 

White, Lewis. Age 34, born 7/3/1884. Next of kin: 

Maggie. Residence: Says “Bradyville, Coffee Co.” 

Race: Black. Employer/job: Farmer. Physical 

description: (height medium, size stout, eyes black, 

hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

White, Lewis. Age 44, born 3/2/1874. Next of kin: 

Mary White. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: Section Hand. Physical description: 

(height short, size stout, eyes black, hair black, a little 

bald). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Bishop Quintard Haywood Whittaker. Born 3/3/1880. 

Next of kin: Magnolia Whittaker. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Black. Employer/job: ? D 

Dossett/Cook. Physical description: (height medium, 

size medium, eyes black, hair black). Registered on 

9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Whittaker, Jackson. Born 8/10/1884. Next of kin: Mary 

Lizza Whittaker. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: North Carolina & St. Louis Railroad. 

Physical description: (height medium, size medium, 

eyes black, hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not 

inducted.  

 

Wilkinson, Ike. Age about 45. Residence: Hillsboro. 

Race: Black. Employer/job: Jessie Ray/Farming. 

Family info: married. Physical description: (height 

medium, size stout, eyes brown, hair black). Registered 

on 9/12/1918. Not inducted. Notes: Hand withered. 

 

Williams, Nathaniel Hawthorne. Age 33, born 

12/14/1884. Next of kin: Robert Williams. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Black. Employer/job: M. R. 

Campbell Engine and spoke factory[should spoke 

factory be capped?]/may say Fireman. Physical 

description: (height medium, size stout, eyes black, 

hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Williams, Willis. Age 44, born 11/5/1874. Next of kin: 

Mary Jane Williams. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: 

Black. Employer/job: H. W. Stratton/Farming. Physical 

description: (height medium, size medium, eyes brown, 

hair black). Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Wilson, Ben. Age 21, born 3/26/1896. Residence: 

Manchester. Race: Black. Employer/job: Rob 

Vannoy/Farmer. Family info: married, 2 children. 

Physical description: (height tall, size medium, eyes 

dark brown, hair black). Registered on 6/5/1917. Not 

inducted.  

 

Wilson, Dewey. Age 18, born 6/1/1900. Next of kin: 

Mrs. Janie Wilson. Residence: Manchester. Race: 

Black. Employer/job: North Carolina & St. Louis 

Railroad/Construction Labor. Physical description: 

(height medium, size medium, eyes brown, hair black). 

Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Winton, Chester. Age 22, born 5/7/1895. Residence: 

Tullahoma. Race: Ethiopian. Employer/job: North 

Carolina & St. Louis Railroad/Concrete gang. Family 

info: married but separated. Physical description: 

(height tall, eyes black). Registered on 6/5/1917. Not 

inducted. Notes: Born in Haley Station, Tenn. 

Defective eyesight. 

 

Winton, Henry. Born 9/4/1876. Next of kin: Hattie 

Winton. Residence: Race: Black. Employer/job: C.H. 

Ramsey/Farm laborer. Physical description: (height 

medium, size medium, eyes black, hair black). 

Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Woods, Frank. Age 21, born 4/18/1896. Residence: 

Beech Grove. Race: African. Employer/job: W. R. 

Manley/Farming. Family info: single. Physical 
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description: (height short, size stout, eyes black, hair 

black). Registered on 6/5/1917. Inducted. Served 

overseas. Rank: Private. Unit: Co A, 521 Engineers.  

 

Woods, John. Age 18, born 1900. Next of kin: Wife, 

Lizzie Woods. Residence: Beech Grove. Race: Black. 

Employer/job: W. R. Manley/Farming. Family info: 

married. Physical description: (height medium, size 

medium, eyes black, hair black). Registered on 

9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Wooten, Edd. Born 1891. Residence: Hillsboro. Race: 

Black. Employer/job: H. B. Bramblett/Farming. Family 

info: married, 2 children. Physical description: (height 

medium, size medium, eyes brown, hair black). 

Registered on 6/5/1917. Not inducted.  

 

Wooten, Fred Duglis. Age 22, born 2/26/1895. 

Residence: Hillsboro. Race: Black. Employer/job: 

Self/Farmer. Family info: married, 2 children. Physical 

description: (height tall, size stout, eyes brown, hair 

black). Registered on 6/5/1917. Not inducted.  

 

Wooten, Lawson Wade. Age 28, born 5//2/1899. 

Residence: Hillsboro. Race: Black. Employer/job: 

William Roberts/Farming. Family info: married, 1 

child. Physical description: (height short, size stout, 

brown eyes, black hair). Registered on 6/5/1917. Not 

inducted. 

Wooton, John Marcus. Age 20, born 3/13/1898. Next 

of kin: Hugh L. Wooton. Residence: Hillsboro. Race: 

Black. Employer/job: George Roddy/Farming. 

Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.  

 

Wright, Jesse. Age 21. Residence: Beech Grove. Race: 

African. Employer/job: Farming. Physical description: 

(height tall, size medium, eyes black, hair black). 

Registered on 6/5/1917. Inducted. Served overseas. 

Rank: Private. Unit: 154 Depot Brigade to Battery D, 

351 Field Artillery.  

 

Wright, Vergel. Age 24. Residence: Beech Grove. 

Race: African. Employer/job: Farm hand. Family info: 

married, 2 children. Physical description: (height 

medium, size medium, eyes black, hair black). 

Registered on 6/5/1917. Not inducted.  

 

Young, John Williams. Age 43, born 9/27/1875. Next 

of kin: Lizzie Young. Residence: Tullahoma. Race: 

Black. Employer/job: North Carolina & St. Louis 

Railroad/RR Hand. Physical description: (height 

medium, size medium, eyes black, hair black). 

Registered on 9/12/1918. Not inducted.                █ 

 

 

Concluded 

 

 

 

 
 

Draft Registration Rules published in the Nashville Tennessean and American, May 26, 1917 

 

O•i:en11• 1•:,- A. i,Juata. Ji• ta I'• 
•C•r~.. A N0Nblll Jlipt:ae •• LIie 
Jee,- to nea.UII. • n,-. .s. lt:•I• 
CnlUffo Tl!I !llalllt -,u Dulld.ln.c, 
ll'lillke• • • ,-.et'.1 , •ltr nt N'ft"Tow• 
an.d S•l.11111.l flt.es~•• 

An early a ppreciation of the value of good hai_r and the 
·;;1, rn,ent use of Newbro's Herpieide will save many rel(rels 

RS. BURNS' DEA TH 
CAUSE OF SORROW 

T he bo•l.r c,C lfN. Vlr;lnin ~t Dum 1111. Ill­°"'" t;:1ld , '1 '110 \1\1:~1 al ~;aO in;t loc.l: 'rlnlT':'!• 
1IHJ' a ttcmooo 111 ;\"uw ')'(1t1i: , 1Ntll url~ 1111 
U1la cU.,- No110.•1 id11r1Jln1; u d 'lt lll .be 
t 1.Jcim l 111mcll!nt!!IJ (1> S t • .Joae11h'e ,c-J;u ~li. 
\TIH!re Ota {Ullt!rll[ IM!U"IC' , ,dt b req11 !e .:::1 
llh;l1 111111111 11. IT lll t.c bchl Hl ~ o-' d0<-lr I.i i I 
ReY". li\uher P. ;r_ 01(,uso u, 

?tll'fl. n11rn11 l\°llN , llorn Jn n(ld:t, ti<1111'ot -
~ .. 1211l;o-. -.•1 rith 1i n, nnd c,, m• to N'asbTlltP. 
will.I bcr p.1rnnl tt ""ht!IJ 11 1111 O ,,llb.)'. S l lC! I 
\\' Il l! 111 .1 rr1,-11 l1P.rr h 1 N'onull..1t?'t or 15W l t:1 ' 

f!iJ11!r~~;:~~r £~~~~:.~ lf:.~~~·~t·\~:: 
~~7tl."eur'°'u~!~,>~~~Y N~v~-. ~'l~c Ell~ui~ .. ~: j 
dn:irt t1)• UL4! r01to t1 l nC' Chl lel re11": Jnltt1 i'il., 
J ose-pt1 I', 11• ,J J~l'l\"11~1 Gum!!., ;,.1 , ,.., !llnrs;"n • 
l'l!l Dllt'lll A t m11-trl)ta.i:: Hid ),( l 111tt.!II EIIMih!!Ul 
l!lnd Jilu r:r Ilurr::111 or ~ew \' nrll, ' l'1•0tnH W. 
Jl1,Jrn.11 nr ${111\Uc .tint! ltob<!rl. 1 . J111rJ1S O( 
Si u ,'111111 11. 1•1u'1n 11 lc i,. 

'J' llaui;h ,lJ.f1, P 11rn-1 bad IMlen Ill for 11nnl,() 
tlqi,c , 11 ,t r rt1:111 t b c•me 111 n ,11lu,~k tu 11 1'.!r 

lll)~fl!lg::~e;;IIJ 11• Jn lb!! hm•ll,r l;t. In 
Mt. Cu tvu..,0_·. _ _ ___ _ 

MOYHER AND CH ILDREN 
. HURT IN RUNAWAY 

,., ,~. A l1c11 0~1;;i;;-;r ~:?7 f' IIU~ul.nnd 
i,tr(-f'l Olli.I lier t\To u:n.aU tM lll ron '11"(:r-(I 

[1•1latu ll T blJ,,n,t•I yNtc:rdl'lr \'l"hf'N llll'fl""" 
lrom • , 111"11 l)u~i::y ,vbld1 ~u r ned •"'r 
la U r u nil w-ay CID (; hJOTI'WOCM1 1111·(';Utc. i-;a ,._1 
-.. .. ••••·111~ " ,w,f•• rlr11wlrn: rl l<' bu. c:1n · b1ul 



 
 

 

 
Middle Tennessee Journal of Genealogy & History                                                                                     Volume XXIII, Number 3  

Page 48 

Book Reviews 
 

by Shirley Wilson 

 

 

 

 

Texas Cherokees 1820-1839 by George W. Fields, 

compiled and transcribed by Jeff Bowen. 117 pp., 

soft cover, illustrations, 

index, 2012. $15.95 plus 

shipping from Clearfield 

Company, Baltimore, 

Maryland, 

www.genealogical.com 

 

Prior to the Trail of Tears 

in the late 1830s, many 

members of the Cherokee 

Nation East had moved to 

the Arkansas Territory. 

Chief John Bowles with some sixty families moved 

onward to Texas, settling near the town of 

Nacogdoches. This is the story of their struggle to 

find land in the west.  

 

What makes this book so interesting is that the 

Cherokee experience in east Texas is described in a 

legal document filed many years later in 1921 by 

George W. Fields, Jr.  Fields was a lawyer and the 

grandson of one of the Texas Cherokee tribal 

leaders, Chief Richard Fields. Fields (the lawyer)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

was trying to win compensation for the Texas 

Cherokee after they were forced out of Texas, 

taking his suit to the U.S. Supreme Court where he  

ultimately lost.   

 

Also of interest is his corres-ponddence with the 

well-known Tennessee genealogist Penelope Allen, 

in an attempt to learn more about his Cherokee 

ancestors.  

 

The book is nicely illustrated with excerpts from 

the Cherokee applications as well as newspaper 

articles. It is a glimpse into a research area where 

little is available. 

 

Genealogy At A Glance provides concise 

information on genealogy topics along with quick 

facts and important dates. It lists the various record 

groups, the on-line resources, and includes a brief 

bibliography. Each of the topics listed below is 

presented in a sturdy four page, laminated format 

that would be easy to carry on a research trip. 

$8.95 each plus shipping. From http://www. 

genealogical.com/ 
 

African American Genealogy Research  

by Michael Hait, 2011 
 

Ellis Island Research  

by Sharon DeBartolo Carmack, CG.,  2011.  
 

Immigration Research  

by Sharon DeBartolo Carmack, CG. 2011.  
 

English Genealogy Research  

by Paul Milner, 2011.     █
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